
  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Executive Cabinet 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda and Reports  
 

For consideration on  
 
 

Thursday, 11th December 
2008 

 
 

In the Council Chamber, Town Hall, Chorley 

 

At 5.00 pm 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

PROCEDURE FOR PUBLIC QUESTIONS/SPEAKING AT EXECUTIVE CABINET MEETINGS 
 

• Questions should be submitted to the Democratic Services Section by midday, two working 
days prior to each Executive Cabinet meeting to allow time to prepare appropriate 
responses and investigate the issue if necessary. 

• A maximum period of 3 minutes will be allowed for a question from a member of the public 
on an item on the agenda.  A maximum period of 30 minutes to be allocated for public 
questions if necessary at each meeting. 

• The question to be answered by the Executive Member with responsibility for the service 
area or whoever is most appropriate. 

• On receiving a reply the member of the public will be allowed to ask one supplementary 
question. 

• Members of the public will be able to stay for the rest of the meeting should they so wish but 
will not be able to speak on any other agenda item upon using their allocated 3 minutes. 

 

 

 
 
PROCEDURE FOR ‘CALL-IN’ OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS 
 

• Each of the executive decisions taken at the Executive Cabinet meeting are subject to the 
adopted ‘call-in’ procedure within 10 working days of the Executive Cabinet meeting at which 
the decision is made, unless the decision has been implemented as a matter of urgency. 

 

• Guidance on the ‘call-in’ procedure can be accessed through the following internet link: 
http://www.chorley.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=1426 

 

• If you require clarification of the ‘call-in’ procedure or further information, please contact 
either: 
Tony Uren (Tel: 01257 515122; E-Mail: tony.uren@chorley.gov.uk) or  
Gordon Bankes (Tel: 01257 515123, E-Mail: gordon.bankes@chorley.gov.uk)  
in the Democratic Services Section. 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
EXECUTIVE CABINET - THURSDAY, 11TH DECEMBER 2008 
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Executive Cabinet to be held in the Council Chamber, 
Town Hall, Chorley on Thursday, 11th December 2008 at 5.00 pm. 
 
Please note that this meeting replaces the meeting of the Executive Cabinet postponed from 4 
December.  
 
 

AGENDA 
 
1. Apologies for absence   
 
2. Declarations of Any Interests   
 
 Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any personal interest in respect of 

matters contained in this agenda. If the interest arises only as result of your membership 
of another public body or one to which you have been appointed by the Council then you 
only need to declare it if you intend to speak. 
  
If the personal interest is a prejudicial interest, you must withdraw from the meeting. 
Normally you should leave the room before the business starts to be discussed. You do, 
however, have the same right to speak as a member of the public and may remain in the 
room to enable you to exercise that right and then leave immediately. In either case you 
must not seek to improperly influence a decision on the matter. 
 

3. Minutes  (Pages 1 - 6) 
 
 To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Executive Cabinet held 

on 13 November 2008 (enclosed). 
 

4. Public Questions   
 
 Members of the public who have requested the opportunity to ask a question(s) on an 

item(s) on the agenda will be asked to put their question(s) to the respective Executive 
Member(s).  Each member of the public will be allowed to ask one supplementary 
question within his/her allocated 3 minutes.   
 

ITEM OF EXECUTIVE LEADER (INTRODUCED BY COUNCILLOR PETER GOLDSWORTHY) 
 
5. December Forward Plan  (Pages 7 - 10) 
 
 To receive and consider the Council’s Forward Plan for the four months period 

commencing 1 December 2008 (enclosed). 

Town Hall 
Market Street 

Chorley 
Lancashire 

PR7 1DP 
 

3 December 2008 



 
ITEM OF EXECUTIVE MEMBER (BUSINESS) (INTRODUCED COUNCILLOR PETER 
MALPAS) 
 
6. Sustainable Resources - Approval of Draft Supplementary Planning Document for 

consultation purposes  (Pages 11 - 60) 
 
 To consider the enclosed report of the Corporate Director (Business), with an attached 

draft Supplementary Planning Document.  
 

ITEM OF EXECUTIVE MEMBER (PEOPLE) (INTRODUCED BY COUNCILLOR JOHN 
WALKER) 
 
7. Ellerbeck and Duxbury Collieries Sites - Potential extension of Green Corridor  

(Pages 61 - 64) 
 
 To receive and consider the enclosed report of the Corporate Director (People). 

 
8. Any other item(s) that the Chair decides is/are urgent   
 
9. Exclusion of the Public and Press   
 
 To consider the exclusion of the press and public for the following items of business on 

the ground that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Paragraphs1 and 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
 

ITEM OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (BUSINESS) (INTRODUCED BY COUNCILLOR P 
MALPAS) 
 
10. Strategic Housing Issues  (Pages 65 - 100) 
 
 To receive and consider the enclosed report of the Corporate Director (Business). 

 
ITEM OF EXECUTIVE MEMBER (RESOURCES) (INTRODUCED BY COUNCILLOR ALAN 
CULLENS) 
 
11. Performance of Key Partnerships - 2008/09 Mid-term Progress Report  (Pages 101 - 

116) 
 
 To receive and consider the enclosed report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Business 

Transformation). 
 

 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 

 
Donna Hall  
Chief Executive 
 
Tony Uren  
Democratic Services Officer  
E-mail: tony.uren@chorley.gov.uk 
Tel: (01257) 515122 
Fax: (01257) 515150 
 
 



 
 
Distribution 
 
1. Agenda and reports to all Members of the Executive Cabinet, Lead Members and Chief 

Officers for attendance. 
 

This information can be made available to you in larger print 

or on audio tape, or translated into your own language.  

Please telephone 01257 515118 to access this service. 
 

 
 

 

 
 

01257 515822 

01257 515823 



This page is intentionally left blank



Executive Cabinet 1  
Public Minutes of meeting held on Thursday, 13 November 2008 

Executive Cabinet 
 

Minutes of meeting held on Thursday, 13 November 2008 
 

Present: Councillor Peter Goldsworthy (Executive Leader in the Chair), Councillor Pat Case 
(Deputy Leader of the Council) and Councillors Alan Cullens, Peter Malpas and John Walker 
 
Also in attendance: 
Lead Members: Councillors Rosie Russell (Lead Member for Health and Older People) and 
Iris Smith (Lead Member for Licensing) 
 
Other Members: Councillors Ken Ball, Julia Berry, Dennis Edgerley, Anthony Gee, 
Pat Haughton, Keith Iddon (Eccleston and Mawdesley), Roy Lees, Laura Lennox, 
June Molyneaux, Geoffrey Russell, Stella Walsh and Peter Wilson (Lancashire County Councillor 
/ Lindsay Hoyle MP) 

 
 

08.EC.97 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

The Members present expressed their best wishes for the early recovery to health of 
Councillors Eric Bell and Ralph Snape, following their recently short stays in hospital. 
 

08.EC.98 DECLARATIONS OF ANY INTERESTS  
 

There were no declarations of interest by any of the Executive members on any of the 
agenda items. 
 

08.EC.99 MINUTES  
 

The minutes of the meeting of the Executive Cabinet held on 2 October 2008 were 
confirmed as a correct record for signature by the Executive Leader. 
 

08.EC.100 PUBLIC QUESTIONS  
 

The Executive Leader reported that there had been no requests from any members of 
the public to speak at the meeting. 
 

08.EC.101 CHORLEY TOWN CENTRE AUDIT AND DESIGN STRATEGY  
 

The Corporate Director (Business) presented a report seeking endorsement of the 
Chorley Town Audit and Urban Design Strategy. 
 
The Town Centre Audit was undertaken by Consultants in the winter/spring of 2007/08 
to establish a snapshot survey of the town centre through a series of surveys, 
workshops and consultation events.  The Audit identified the strengths and 
weaknesses of the town centre and recommended ways in which the issues might be 
addressed.  The Audit’s recommendations had formed the basis of the Urban Design 
Strategy which set out ten objectives which, if implemented, would result in a much 
improved town centre. 
 
The Strategy aimed to co-ordinate a range of initiatives already underway in the town 
centre in order to realise the identified objectives over the coming five years through 
the implementation timetable attached to the report. 
 
The Assistant Chief Executive (Business Transformation) reminded the Members of 
the current provision of just over £1m in the Capital Programme to finance town centre 
projects over the next three years, indicating that, in the light of the present economic 

Agenda Item 3Agenda Page 1



Executive Cabinet 2  
Public Minutes of meeting held on Thursday, 13 November 2008 

climate, it would be prudent to review the Capital Programme as part of the budget 
cycle for 2009/10 to ensure that the town centre plans were still affordable. 
 
The Members welcomed the Strategy and hoped that as much as possible of the 
implementation programme could be undertaken as a means of attracting new 
investment into the town centre. 
 
Decisions made: 
 
1.  That the Town Centre Audit and Urban Design Strategy, as now presented, 
be endorsed as a guide to future town centre interventions. 
 
2.  That the 10 objectives and related projects, as set out in the Implementation 
Timetable, be approved and adopted, subject to a review of the medium term 
financial strategy and agreement of the budget for 2009/10. 
 
Reason for decisions: 
 
The project to enhance the town centre and the economy of the Borough directly 
accords with the Corporate Strategy and the achievement of the strategic objective to 
put Chorley at the heart of regional economic development in the Central Lancashire 
sub-region. 
 
Alternative option(s) considered and rejected: 
 
None. 
 

08.EC.102 BUSINESS START-UP AND SUPPORT PROJECT  
 

The Corporate Director (Business) presented a report which outlined proposed new 
arrangements for the provision of support for new business start-ups to be delivered 
through a new contract with the North West Regional Development Agency with effect 
from April 2009. 
 
The new contract aimed to ensure the provision of specialist and intensive business 
start-ups and support to target groups and areas in order to meet local needs and 
achieve a more simplified structure in each locality. 
 
The Executive Cabinet’s instructions were sought on its preference for one of the two 
alternative delivery options, with the Officers favouring the adoption of Option B which 
grouped the Lancashire County Council and the Lancashire District and Unitary 
Authorities into five groupings based on acknowledged economic footprints and 
geography.  It was proposed that Chorley would be included in the Central Lancashire 
group along with South Ribble and Preston, and supported by the County Council, 
with Chorley Council acting as the Accountable Body, provided sufficient financial 
support for the role was available from the NWDA. 
 
The Executive Cabinet were also recommended to endorse the use of the 
performance reward grant from the Economic Development Block of the Local Area 
Agreement as the preferred option for the co-financing of the NWDA contract.  This 
would allow the mainstream funding to be kept free to support non-priority groupings. 
 
The report also referred to the complex funding formula with weighted factors which 
determined local authorities’ share of the project funding.  Members expressed 
concern at the amount of funding allocated to Chorley under the formula as compared 
to other Lancashire districts, and the Corporate Director (Business) intimated that 
negotiations were continuing with the NWDA with a view to the allocation formula 
being altered in Chorley’s favour for future years. 
 

Agenda Item 3Agenda Page 2



Executive Cabinet 3  
Public Minutes of meeting held on Thursday, 13 November 2008 

Decision made: 
 
That the update on the existing provision of support to new business start-ups 
be noted and that, in relation to the new Business Start-Up and Support 
Contract: 
 
● The adoption of local delivery ‘Option B’, which aims to ensure the 

provision of specialist and intensive business start-up and support to 
target groups and areas by grouping Chorley with South Ribble and 
Preston (with support from the County Council) in the Central Lancashire 
group, be supported. 

● The nomination of Chorley Council to act as the Accountable Body within 
the Central Lancashire grouping be endorsed. 

● The performance reward grant from the Economic Development Block of 
the Local Area Agreement be endorsed as the preferred option for co-
financing. 

● That, given the current economic climate and likely recession, targeted 
support to persons in a worklessness situation or under threat of 
redundancy and ex-offenders be supported. 

 
Reason for decision: 
 
The promotion of entrepreneurship and the creation of new business start-ups and 
survival are crucial to creating a vibrant local economy.  The recommended approach 
to delivering the new Business Start-Up and Support project will maximise the 
opportunities for Chorley and its Central Lancashire sub-region, and in particular in the 
light of the economic downturn and likely recession. 
 
Alternative option(s) considered and rejected: 
 
None. 
 

08.EC.103 PERFORMANCE MONITORING REPORT - SECOND QUARTER OF 2008/09  
 

The Executive Cabinet considered a report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Policy 
and Performance) which set out and reviewed the Authority’s performance both in 
respect of the delivery of the 31 key projects included in the Corporate Strategy and 
against the new National Indicators for which the Council was responsible, during the 
second quarter of 2008/09 ending on 30 September 2008. 
 
The report revealed an overall commendable performance on the delivery of the 
Corporate Strategy Key projects with 87% of the projects either having been 
completed or progressing on or ahead of plan.  Seven of the 11 uncompleted projects 
remained on track for completion and the Officers were optimistic that three of the 
remaining four projects would be brought back on course shortly.  The one remaining 
project to deliver Phase 2 of Market Walk had been adversely affected by both the 
failure to reach a financially viable agreement with the prospective developers and the 
economic downturn. 
 
The report also revealed a good performance in respect of the national indicators that 
could be measured, with 10 out of 15 being on target and an improved performance in 
relation to 14 indicators.  Action plans had been adopted in respect of the indicators 
where performance had been lower than expected. 
 
Questions were raised by Members in respect of the project to reduce teenage 
pregnancies, the ‘Families First’ initiatives and the ‘Chorley Smile’ campaign.   
 
Decision made: 
 

Agenda Item 3Agenda Page 3



Executive Cabinet 4  
Public Minutes of meeting held on Thursday, 13 November 2008 

That the report be noted. 
 

08.EC.104 CHORLEY PARTNERSHIP - 2008/09 SECOND QUARTER REPORT  
 

The Assistant Chief Executive (Policy and Performance) presented a report updating 
the Executive Cabinet on the activities of the Chorley Local Strategic Partnership 
(LSP), particularly through its delivery of 11 strategic projects and its performance in 
relation to the Local Area Agreement (LAA) and targeted key performance indicators 
from the Sustainable Community Strategy over the second quarter of 2008/09. 
 
The report revealed that delivery of the LSP’s projects remained largely on track and 
good progress was being achieved in relation to the delivery of the LAA targets.  The 
scope of the ‘Circle of Need’ project had been re-designed and work had recently 
commenced on the Timebanks pilot volunteering project following the selection of Age 
Concern as the lead management agent. 
 
Measurement of the relevant performance indicators showed that the overall level of 
crime throughout the Borough had reduced by 3.1% since April 2008 and that the 
level of household recycling had increased to 51%. 
 
In response to a Members’ enquiry, the Assistant Chief Executive (Policy and 
Performance) reported that information was still being sought from the Central 
Lancashire PCT before the Mental Health Awareness project was able to be 
progressed. 
 
Decision made: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

08.EC.105 TREES AT BLACK CROFT, CLAYTON-LE-WOODS - UPDATE ON PETITION 
SUBMITTED TO LAST COUNCIL MEETING  

 
The Executive Cabinet received a report of the Corporate Director (Neighbourhoods) 
on the action to be taken in response to the letters submitted to the last meeting of the 
Council from residents of Black Croft, Clayton-le-Woods requesting action to control 
the height and spread of trees planted as part of the former Central Lancashire New 
Town to screen residential property from noise from the adjacent road system. 
 
The Corporate Director had subsequently written to the residents explaining that the 
Council’s limited resources would not permit the level of tree maintenance sought on 
the number of ‘shelter belts’ located throughout the Borough.  The letter explained that 
the Council endeavoured to maintain lower growth in a reasonable and presentable 
condition and to prune overhanging branches whenever necessary, but that it had not 
been the authority’s practice to reduce the size and spread of trees. 
 
Decision made: 
 
That the report, which confirmed that the matter had been dealt with in line with 
the content of the replies to the letters from residents’ of Black Croft, Clayton-
le-Woods, be noted. 
 

08.EC.106 REVENUE BUDGET, 2008/09 - SECOND QUARTER MONITORING REPORT  
 

The Executive Cabinet considered a report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Business 
Transformation) monitoring the Council’s financial performance during the second 
quarter of 2008/09 in comparison with the budgetary and efficiency savings targets for 
the current financial year. 
 

Agenda Item 3Agenda Page 4



Executive Cabinet 5  
Public Minutes of meeting held on Thursday, 13 November 2008 

The report confirmed that the Council was on course to achieve its overall savings 
target of £320,000 by the end of the financial year, with savings in the region of 
£234,000 having already been achieved. 
 
The situation in respect of a number of funding areas (eg contributions to corporate 
savings and efficiency targets; major income steams; concessionary travel costs; and 
benefits costs) was being closely monitored.  The report also commented on the 
potential overspending of up to £250,000 in respect of concessionary travel costs, 
recommending the development of contingency plans to identify further savings to 
mitigate any significant overspend.  In this context, the Executive Leader advised the 
Members of representations currently being made to the Government for the 
availability of additional funding to cover excessive concessionary travel expenditure 
and of the negotiations between the Lancashire authorities on pooling arrangements. 
 
Decisions made: 
 
(1)  That the report be noted. 
 
(2)  That an additional sum of £10,800 be removed from working balances and 
allocated to a specific reserve to meet the final costs of equal pay claims. 
 
(3)  That contingency plans be developed to identify additional savings to 
mitigate the impact of a potential overspending on concessionary travel of up to 
£250,000 in 2008/09. 
 
Reason for decisions: 
 
To ensure that the Council’s budgetary targets are achieved. 
 
Alternative option(s) considered and rejected: 
 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Executive Leader 
 

Agenda Item 3Agenda Page 5



Agenda Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



CHORLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL FORWARD PLAN 
FOR THE FOUR MONTH PERIOD 1 DECEMBER 2008 TO 31 MARCH 2009

This Forward Plan sets out the details of the key decisions which the Executive Cabinet, individual Executive Members or Officers expect to take during 
the next four month period. The Plan is rolled forward every month and is available to the public 14 days before the beginning of each month. 

A Key Decision is defined as: 

1. Any executive decision (as opposed to a regulatory decision) which is likely to result in the Council incurring significant expenditure or the making 
of savings where there is: 

• A change in service provision that impacts upon the service revenue budget by £100,000 or more, or 

• A contract worth £100,000 or more, or 

• A new or unprogrammed capital scheme of £100,000 or more. 

2. Any executive decision which will have a significant impact in environmental, physical, social or economic terms on communities living or working 
in two or more electoral wards  - This includes any plans or strategies which are not within the meaning of the Council’s Policy Framework set out 
in Article 4 of the Council’s Constitution. 

3. As a matter of local choice, the Forward Plan also includes the details of any significant issues to be initially considered by the Executive Cabinet 
and submitted to the Full Council for approval. 

4. New items on the Forward Plan are highlighted in bold print. 

The current members of the Executive Cabinet are: 

Councillor Peter Goldsworthy  Executive Leader  
Councillor Patricia Case  Executive Member (Policy and Performance) and Deputy Leader 
Councillor Eric Bell  Executive Member (Neighbourhoods)
Councillor Alan Cullens  Executive Member for Resources 
Councillor Peter Malpas  Executive Member (Business) 
Councillor John Walker Executive Member (People) 

Anyone wishing to make representations about any of the matters listed below may do so by contacting the relevant officer listed against each key 
decision, within the time period indicated. 

A
g

e
n
d
a
 Ite

m
 5

A
g
e
n

d
a
 P

a
g
e
 7



Under the Access to Information Procedure Rules set out in the Council’s Constitution, a Key Decision may not be taken, unless: 

• It is published in the Forward Plan; 

• 5 clear days have lapsed since the publication of the Forward Plan; and 

• If the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Executive Cabinet, 5 clear days notice of the meeting has been given. 

The law and the Council’s Constitution provide for urgent key decisions to be made, even though they have not been included in the Forward Plan in 
accordance with Rule 18 (General Exception) and Rule 19 (Special Urgency) of the Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

Copies of the following documents may be inspected at the Town Hall, Chorley, PR7 1DP or accessed from the Council’s website: www.chorley.gov.uk

• Council Constitution 

• Forward Plan 

• Reports on the key decisions to be taken 

• The minutes or decision notice for each key decision, which will normally be published within 5 working days after having been made 

Members of the public are welcome to attend meetings of the Executive Cabinet which are held at the Town Hall, Chorley. The dates and times of the 
meetings are published on www.chorley.gov.uk or you may contact the Democratic Services Section on telephone number 01257 515122 for further 
details. 

Donna Hall 
Chief Executive 

Publication Date: 17 November 2008 A
g

e
n
d
a
 Ite

m
 5

A
g
e
n

d
a
 P

a
g
e
 8



Details of the 
Decision to be 
taken 

Decision to 
be taken by 

Relevant 
Portfolio 
Holder 

Earliest Date 
decision can 
be taken 

Proposed 
Consultees 

Method(s) of 
Consultation 

Documents to 
be 
considered 
by Decision 
taker 

Representation
s may be made 
to the following 
officer by the 
date stated 

Approval of 
Draft 
Supplementary 
Planning 
Document on 
the Sustainable 
Resources 
Development 
Plan Document 
for consultation 
purposes 

Executive 
Cabinet

Executive 
Member 
(Business)

4 Dec 2008 Strategy Group 
and 
Development 
Companies  

Draft 
Supplementary 
Planning 
Document to be 
circulated to 
consultees  

Draft 
Supplementary 
Planning 
Document 

Corporate 
Director 
(Business) Tel: 
01257 515285 
jane.meek@cho
rley.gov.uk 
Friday, 21 
November 2008 

Approval of 
draft budget 
proposals for 
2009/10 for 
consultation 
purposes 

Executive 
Cabinet 

Executive 
Member 
(Resources) 

8 Jan 2009 Citizens' 
Panel, 
Business 
Community,St
rategy Group 
and Council 
employees  

Draft 
proposals to 
be available 
on the 
Council's web-
site and 
circulated to 
consultees  

Draft budget 
proposals for 
2009/10 

Assistant Chief 
Executive 
(Business 
Transformation
) Tel: 01257 
515480 
gary.hall@chor
ley.gov.uk 
Friday, 5 
December 2008 

A
g

e
n
d
a
 Ite

m
 5

A
g
e
n

d
a
 P

a
g
e
 9



Details of the 
Decision to be 
taken 

Decision to 
be taken by 

Relevant 
Portfolio 
Holder 

Earliest Date 
decision can 
be taken 

Proposed 
Consultees 

Method(s) of 
Consultation 

Documents to 
be 
considered 
by Decision 
taker 

Representation
s may be made 
to the following 
officer by the 
date stated 

Sale of land at 
Gillibrand, 
Chorley (Parcel 
10) 

Executive 
Member for 
Resources

Executive 
Member for 
Resources

10 Dec 2008 Strategy Group. Draft report 
circulated to 
Consultees.  

Report of 
Corporate 
Director 
(Business) 

Corporate 
Director 
(Business) Tel: 
01257 515285 
jane.meek@cho
rley.gov.uk 
Wednesday, 3 
December 2008 

Approval of 
Core Funding 
grants in 
excess of 
£5,000 for 
2009/10 

Executive 
Cabinet 

Executive 
Member 
(People) 

26 Mar 2009 Previous 
applicants and 
other groups 
who express 
an interest  

Media packs, 
website 
publication 
and 
application 
packs to be 
distributed  

Grant 
application 
forms 

Corporate 
Director 
(People) Tel: 
01257 515815 
jamie.carson@
chorley.gov.uk 
Friday, 6 March 
2009 

A
g

e
n
d
a
 Ite

m
 5

A
g
e
n
d

a
 P

a
g

e
 1

0



 

 

 

 
 

Updated Template December 2007  

 

 
Report of Meeting Date 

Corporate Director (Business) 

Introduced by the Executive 
Member (Business) 

Executive Cabinet 04/12/2008 

SUSTAINABLE RESOURCES – DRAFT SUPPLEMENTARY 

PLANNING DOCUMENT 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1. To seek Members endorsement for the attached draft Sustainable Resources 
Supplementary Planning Document. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

2. That Executive Cabinet endorses the draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary 
Planning Document and approves it for consultation. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

(If the recommendations are accepted) 
 

3. To ensure that the Council fulfils its commitment set out in the Local Development Scheme 
and to fulfil the recommendation of the Planning Inspector at the Public Examination into the 
soundness of the Sustainable Resources Development Plan Document. 

 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 
 

4. None 

 
CORPORATE PRIORITIES 
 
5. This report relates to the following Strategic Objectives: 
 

Put Chorley at the heart of regional 
economic development in the 
Central Lancashire sub-region 

 
Develop local solutions to climate 
change.  ✔  

Improving equality of opportunity and 
life chances  

 
Develop the Character and feel of 
Chorley as a good place to live  

✔  

Involving people in their communities  ✔  
Ensure Chorley Borough Council is a 
performing organization  

 

 

BACKGROUND 
 
6. The Sustainable Resources Development Plan Document (DPD) was adopted on 23 

September 2008. This document contains two policies, the first (SR1) sets out 
requirements for incorporating sustainable resources into new developments and the 
second (SR2) sets out criteria for stand-alone renewable energy schemes. 

 

 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 11



7. A draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) was consulted 
on in March 2006 along with the Sustainable Resources Preferred Options Development 
Plan Document. This document supplemented the policies in the DPD through the 
provision of practical advice on how to incorporate the sustainable use of resources into 
new development. 

 
8. Following the Examination in Public on the Sustainable Resources DPD, which took place 

in May 2008, the Inspector produced a report concluding that the document is sound 
subject to a number of minor amendments. Given these amendments the Supplementary 
Planning Document needed to be updated. 

 

REVISED DRAFT SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT 
 
9. The Inspector set out a number of required changes to make the DPD sound, several of 

these had implications for the SPD. 
 
10. The Inspector required the following sentences to be added to the DPD “It [The SPD] will 

also provide advice on how to define a baseline figure for carbon emissions” and “Details 
of how the developer is to submit information on how carbon reduction will be integrated 
into proposals are included in the Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning 
Document.”  

 

11. As a result of these amendments to the DPD an extra section has been added to the SPD, 
which sets out details of how to meet the requirements of Policies SR1 and SR2. It 
provides applicants with a guide of what will be required to satisfy each criterion and how 
the information should be submitted.  

 
12. A number of other amendments have also been made to the SPD including updating 

information and making it more user friendly by changing the layout and slimming it down. 
 
13. Detailed information on how to calculate the predicted energy use of a development is 

included along with information on how to calculate the required reduction in carbon 
emissions. 

 
 NEXT STAGES 
 
14. Subject to approval by Executive Cabinet, consultation on the draft SPD will commence 

the week beginning 15 December 2008 until 6 February 2009.  
 
15. Following consultation, all representations will be considered and amendments made to 

the SPD if necessary. Adoption is scheduled for March 2009. 
 
 CONCLUSION 
 
16. A draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document has been prepared for 

consultation. This is an update of an earlier draft published in 2006, with more detailed 
information for applicants on how to satisfy the criteria of the policies in the Sustainable 
Resources Development Plan Document. 

 
17. The purpose of the Supplementary Planning Document is to provide practical advice and 

guidance to developers on how to incorporate the sustainable use of resources into new 
development. It sets out advice; sources of good practice and further detail on how to 
implement the principles set out in the Development Plan Document policies. 

 
 IMPLICATIONS OF REPORT 
 
18. This report has no implications. 
 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 12



 
JANE MEEK 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR (BUSINESS) 
 

There are no background papers to this report. 

    

Report Author Ext Date Doc ID 

Katherine Howarth 5295 14/11/08 *** 

 
 

 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 13



Agenda Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

 

 
Chorley into 2016: 
Sustainable Resources 
 
Draft Supplementary Planning Document 
 
 

December 2008 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 15



Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development 
Framework 
December 2008 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Jane E Meek BSc (Hons) 
Corporate Director (Business) 

 
Tel: (01257) 515281/515282/515283/515295 

Fax: (10257) 515478 
 

E-mail: planning.policy@chorley.gov.uk 
www.chorley.gov.uk/planning 

 

 

 

This information can be made available to you in larger print 
or on audiotape, or translated into your own language.  
Please telephone 01257 515281 to access this service. 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 16



Chorley into 2016: Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

Sustainable Resources 
Supplementary Planning Document 

 

 
 

 

Contents 
 
 Page 

No. 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1 

2. Meeting the Requirements of Policies SR1 and SR2 
 

2 

3. Practical Advice & Guidance 5 
A. Reducing Energy Use 5 
B. Low Carbon Energy 

Wind energy 
Hydropower 
Landfill gas 
Biomass 
Solar Power 
Ground Source Heat Pumps 
Combined Heat and Power (CHP) 

8 
8 
10 
11 
11 
13 
14 
14 

C. Water 16 
D. Waste Recycling 
 

18 

4.  Other Useful Information 
Energy efficiency during construction 
Energy efficiency in the home 

 

19 

Appendix 1: Glossary 
Appendix 2: Further Information 
Appendix 3: Benchmarks for Calculating Carbon Emissions 
Appendix 4: Template for Demonstrating Reduction in Carbon Emissions 
Appendix 5: Examples of Carbon Savings 
Appendix 6: Examples of Suitable Low Carbon Technologies For Different               

Building Types 
Appendix 7: Maps 

22 
24 
26 
29 
30 
31 

 
33 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 17



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 1 

1. Introduction 
 

Spatial vision 
 
1.1 

  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sustainable Resources DPD/SPD Objectives  
 

1.2 In order to promote sustainable development, and in particular the sustainable use of natural 
resources in Chorley, the Council has adopted a Sustainable Resources Development Plan 
Document (DPD).  The objectives of the Sustainable Resources DPD and this Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) are to: 

 
• Promote the reduction of energy requirements in new developments; 
• Minimise waste production and encourage the recycling of waste products in new 

developments; 
• Promote the prudent use of resources; 
• Manage water in a sustainable manner, reducing consumption and making greater use of 

recycled water in new developments; 
• Impose clearly signalled year on year targets for the energy requirements of buildings to 

be met on-site by low carbon energy capture; 
• Increase year on year installed low carbon energy capacity in the Borough. 

 
Purpose of the SPD 

 
1.3 The purpose of this document is to expand upon and supplement the policies in the DPD 

through the provision of practical advice and guidance to developers on how to incorporate the 
sustainable use of resources into new development. Both the Sustainable Resources 
Documents form part of the new Local Development Framework for Chorley. 

 
1.4 This SPD sets out advice, sources of good practice and further detail on the criteria of the 

policies in order to implement the principles set out in the DPD for both producing low carbon 
developments and promoting commercial low carbon energy generation. It provides guidance 
regarding what is expected in terms of minimising energy use, maximising energy efficiency 
and adapting to climate change. It also provides advice on how to define a baseline figure for 
carbon emissions. 

 
1.5 The Code for Sustainable Homes published in December 2006 sets out a standard rating for 

homes. By 2010 it will become mandatory for all new dwellings to reach level 3 of the Code, 
level 4 by 2013 and level 6 by 2016.  

 
1.6 Other national standards for the design of new homes include Building for Life and Lifetime 

Homes. Building for Life sets out 20 criteria for ensuring homes are well designed. Lifetime 
Homes includes 16 design features that create a flexible blueprint for accessible and adaptable 
housing. All public sector funded housing in England will be built to the Lifetime Homes 
standard from 2011, with a target of 2013 for all private sector dwellings. 

 

The spatial vision for Chorley for the use of sustainable resources is: 
 
“That by 2016, the principles of sustainable development and, in particular, a positive 
attitude to reducing carbon emissions, will run through all development activity, with 
Chorley Borough Council acknowledged as a leading authority enabling residents and 
businesses to reap economic, social and environmental benefits.”  

 
A positive attitude towards reducing carbon emissions should include the consideration of 
‘zero carbon’ or ‘carbon neutral’ development, where the contribution to greenhouse gas 
emissions is neutralised or reduced to zero. 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 18



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 2 

2. Meeting the Requirements of Policies SR1 and SR2 
 

2.1 This section provides further detail on the criteria set out in Policies SR1 and SR2 of the 
Sustainable Resources DPD that will be applied when assessing planning applications. It 
expands upon the information set out in the DPD and provides applicants with a guide of what 
will be required to satisfy each criterion.  

 

 Policy SR1 – Incorporating Sustainable Resources into New Development 
 
2.2 All planning applications for new built development of 5 or more dwellings or non-residential 

units of 500 sq metres or more must be accompanied by an Energy Efficiency/Resource 
Conservation Statement. The Statement will not be required for outline planning applications 
apart from those for major schemes. However, where details of the layout of the site are 
submitted as part of an outline planning application, the applicant will be expected to 
demonstrate how the principles of passive solar design have been considered when designing 
the layout (see criteria (a) below). The Energy Efficiency/Resource Conservation Statement 
must demonstrate how the following requirements for each criterion have been met.  

 
Criteria (a) – Evidence to demonstrate that the design and layout minimises energy use, maximises 
energy efficiency and is flexible enough to withstand climate change 
 
���� Minimising energy use, maximising energy efficiency and withstanding the predicted changes to the climate 

can be achieved by addressing the main principles of Passive Solar Design, providing increased insulation 
and using energy efficient heating and lighting as set out in section 4A of this SPD. Evidence of how all 
these principles have been incorporated into the design and layout of a development must be clearly 
demonstrated. Evidence must also be provided to show how the climate change scenarios set out in Para 
3.2 have been addressed. 

���� Reducing the energy requirements of developments through design and layout will result in a lower 
predicted energy consumption, which in turn will result in a lower carbon reduction to be achieved through 
the installation of low carbon technologies. 

 

Criteria (b) – Reducing carbon emissions through the installation of low carbon energy sources 
 
Applicants are strongly advised to seek specialist advice to calculate and demonstrate this requirement. 
Appendix 4 sets out a template for demonstrating the reduction in carbon emissions. This should be submitted as 
part of the Energy Efficiency/Resource Conservation Statement. 
 
Step 1: Calculate predicted energy consumption of development 

 
���� Applicants are required to set out the overall predicted annual energy consumption of the development in 

kilowatt-hours, broken down into power source i.e. gas and electricity.  
���� If developers do not have access to a reasonable approximation of the future energy requirements of the 

development then they can use the benchmark figures set out in Appendix 3. 
 
Step 2: Convert predicted energy consumption into carbon emissions 
 
���� The annual energy consumption calculated above needs to be converted into carbon emissions using the 

following calculations: 
1 KWh of gas = 0.053 kg of carbon 

1 KWh of electricity = 0.113 kg of carbon 
 
Step 3: Calculate the required annual carbon reduction 
 
���� The requirement of the policy is that the above carbon emissions need to be reduced by at least 10% 

(increasing to at least 15% for applications from 2010 and at least 20% from 2015 onwards).  
���� The appropriate % of the total predicted carbon emissions of the development needs to be calculated. 
���� This will give the minimum annual carbon reduction required. 
 
Step 4: Decide which low carbon energy technologies will be installed  
 
���� In order to achieve the above reduction in carbon emissions, appropriate low carbon energy sources must 

be installed in new developments.  
���� Section 4B of this SPD identifies a range of low carbon energy sources. The applicant must choose which 

of these will be installed to meet the carbon emissions target.  
 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 19



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 3 

Step 5: Calculate the total annual carbon reduction achieved by installing low carbon energy sources 
 
���� The installation of low carbon energy sources will lead to a reduction in the predicted carbon emissions of 

the development. 
���� The amount of carbon saved needs to be identified for each proposed low carbon energy source. Appendix 

5 provides examples of carbon savings from a number of low carbon technologies. 
���� This must be no less than the required annual carbon reduction for the development identified in Step 3. 

  

Criteria (c) – Minimising the use of non-grey water/managing surface water 
 
���� Applicants must provide evidence of what measures have been incorporated into the development in order 

to minimise non-grey water use. Section 4C of this SPD provides information on the different measures that 
should be incorporated by developers in order to reduce water consumption. 

���� Sustainable Drainage Systems should be incorporated where appropriate in order to manage surface water 
and reduce flooding. Section 4C provides information on SuDS and the types of development that they 
would be particularly suited to. 

 
Criteria (d) – Storage provision for recyclable waste and composting 
 
���� Applicants are required to produce a ‘waste management strategy’ that will best facilitate the storage of 

waste and maximise the amount that can be sent for recycling. This should be submitted as part of the 
Energy Efficiency/Resource Conservation Statement. The Council has produced ‘Waste Storage and 
Collection Guidance for New Developments’ which provides guidance on how to produce a ‘waste 
management strategy.’  

���� Storage space for composting should be provided in new developments unless it can be demonstrated that 
it is not appropriate to do so. The proposed development may result in little compostable waste however 
consideration should be given to future uses of the site, which may generate more compostable waste.  

���� More information on waste recycling and composting is included in section 4D of this SPD. 

 
Criteria (e) – Developments in nationally designated areas 
 
���� Development in a Conservation Area or affecting a Listed Building will still be expected to satisfy criteria (a) 

to (d) as set out above through sensitive design. Section 4B of this SPD provides information on the impacts 
of different types of low carbon technologies and ways of mitigating any adverse effects. Further information 
on how to incorporate low carbon energy features into new development in nationally designated areas is 
available at www.helm.org.uk and www.english-heritage.org.uk/climatechange  

���� Where it can be demonstrated that the implementation of the above criteria would compromise the special 
circumstances of the national designation then implementing all of the above criteria would not be insisted 
upon. The applicant must provide strong evidence as to why they cannot meet the requirements of a 
particular criterion. 

 
2.3 All developments must meet the above requirements. The only circumstance in which the 

Council will approve a proposal that does not accord with Policy SR1 is if the applicant can 
demonstrate, through open book accounting, that an individual site’s circumstances are such 
that development would not be feasible or viable if the policy were implemented. 

 
Policy SR2 – Renewable Energy Schemes 

 
2.4 Applications for stand-alone renewable energy schemes will be considered positively provided 

they are sensitively located and designed. Such applications will be assessed against the 
criteria of Policy SR2 and applicants will be required to demonstrate how they have met each 
criterion. The criteria are explained in more detail below: 

 
Criteria (a) – Impact on landscape character and visual appearance of local area 
 
���� The landscape and visual effects of renewable energy schemes will vary depending on the type of 

development proposed, the location and the landscape setting of the area. Section 4B of this SPD identifies 
possible landscape and visual impacts of the different types of renewable energy technologies and provides 
advice on ways of mitigating any adverse effects. 

���� Appendix 7 contains a number of maps illustrating physical characteristics that would influence the location 
of various renewable energy technologies in the Borough. They provide a useful indication of where specific 
renewable energy schemes could be located. This does not mean that applications in these areas will be 
approved and those outside refused, all applications will be assessed on a site-specific basis using all the 
criteria of Policy SR2 and national guidance contained in Planning Policy Statement 22: Renewable Energy. 

���� Appendix 7 also contains a landscape sensitivity to wind energy development in Lancashire map, which 
provides an indication of the most suitable locations for wind energy developments. 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 20



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 4 

Criteria (b) – Sites with statutory protection 
 

���� Sites with statutory protection include Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI’s), Listed Buildings, 
Conservation Areas and Ancient Monuments. Each of these sites has been designated as they have special 
visual, historic or natural/ecological characteristics. 

���� Applications for renewable energy schemes in such locations will only be permitted where the applicant can 
demonstrate that the objectives of the designation of the site and its special characteristics will not be 
compromised by the development. 

���� Section 4B of this SPD identifies possible landscape, visual, ecological and cultural heritage impacts of the 
different types of renewable energy technologies and provides advice on ways of mitigating any adverse 
effects. 

���� Applicants should liaise with relevant statutory bodies and amenity groups/organisations to ensure negative 
impacts on sites with statutory protection are avoided or mitigated. Environmental Impact Assessments may 
be required for some proposals.  

 

Criteria (c) – Avoiding unacceptable detriment to local amenity  
 
���� Some renewable energy technologies may generate small increases in noise levels. Such developments 

must be located and designed in such a way to minimise these increases in ambient noise levels. In some 
cases noise impact assessments will be required. 

���� Anaerobic digestion proposals can have impacts on odour. Applications for such schemes must set out 
proposals for the control of odour and should not be located in close proximity to existing residential areas. 

���� Biomass generation plants can lead to increases in traffic. These effects should be minimised by locating 
such plants close to sources of fuel. 

���� Section 4B of this SPD provides further information on possible local amenity impacts such as noise, odour 
and traffic and provides advice on possible ways of mitigating these impacts. 

 
Criteria (d) – Harm to local nature, ecology and biodiversity 
 
���� Some renewable energy technologies can have ecological impacts particularly wind energy developments. 

Developers should consult with Natural England and other relevant national, regional and local 
organisations regarding the presence and importance of species and habitats in an around the proposed 
development site. 

���� Applicants must assess any potential impacts the development may cause and identify mitigation 
measures. 

 
Criteria (e) – Wider environmental, social and economic benefits 
 

���� Any significant adverse affects identified in criteria (a) to (d) will normally result in the refusal of an 
application unless the applicant can demonstrate that these affects are outweighed by wider environmental, 
social and economic benefits. 

���� Wider environmental benefits include the development leading to a significant reduction in CO
2
 emissions in 

the Borough and would therefore make a valuable contribution to tackling climate change.  
���� Economic benefits include providing a secure energy supply in an area. 
���� Social benefits include ensuring all homes, including those in rural areas, have access to adequate and 

affordable energy supplies. 

 

 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 21



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 5 

3. Practical Advice & Guidance 
 
A. Reducing Energy Use 
 

 
 
 

 
3.1 Buildings account for most of the UK’s carbon dioxide emissions. In 2005 591 kilo tonnes of 

CO2 were emitted in the Borough1. The majority of these emissions came from domestic gas 
consumption (24%), domestic electricity consumption (18%) and industrial/commercial 
electricity consumption (20%). Reducing domestic and industrial/commercial energy use is 
therefore vitally important in reducing carbon dioxide emissions and tackling climate change. 
The design and construction of a building can make a significant contribution to its energy use. 

 
3.2 In accordance with the objectives of the Sustainable Resources DPD, new development will be 

expected to minimise energy use and maximise energy efficiency, particularly through design 
and layout. Developments must also be designed to withstand the predicted changes to the 
climate. ‘UK 21st Century Climate Change Scenarios (2008)’ provides detailed information on 
the expected changes to the climate in the UK and the impacts they will have. This information 
is available at 25x25km grid squares and can be viewed at www.ukcip08.org.uk. Some of the 
main predicted changes to the climate in the UK are: 

 
� The average annual temperature is to rise by between 0.5 and 1°C by 2040 and between 1 

and 5°C by 2100. 
� Average summer temperatures are expected to rise by between 0.5 and 2°C by 2040 and 

between 1 and 6°C by 2100. The numbers of day’s buildings require cooling is expected to 
increase as a result. 

� Expected to be 50% less precipitation in summer months, which could lead to droughts. 
� Average winter temperatures are expected to rise by between 0.5 and 1°C by 2040 and 

between 1 and 4°C by 2100. The number of day’s buildings require heating is expected to 
decrease as a result. 

� Expected to be 30% more precipitation in the winter months increasing the risk of flash 
flooding. 

� Global sea levels are expected to continue to rise and by 2100 could have risen by as 
much as 80cm around the UK coast.  

 
3.3 This section sets out some methods and techniques for incorporating energy efficiency 

measures at the design stage of new development. Part L of the Building Regulations sets out 
the minimum legal requirements for the conservation of fuel and power in buildings. 
Developments that are energy efficient will have lower energy demands, reducing the 
predicted energy consumption of the development and making it easier to achieve the carbon 
emissions reduction target (criteria (b)). Developers are therefore encouraged to exceed the 
minimum standards set out in the Building Regulations. 

 
Passive Solar Design 

 
3.4 Passive solar design is an approach to building design that utilises solar energy to provide 

some of the heating and lighting required in buildings and to assist natural ventilation.  
Applying simple layout and building design principles can save up to 25% of heating and 
lighting energy costs in modern housing. In order to maximise the benefits of passive solar 
design it must be considered early in the design stage of new development as this represents 
the best opportunity to save energy during the lifetime of a building. It is also important to 
consider the purpose of the building as the heating and lighting requirements of some 
commercial buildings may be different to housing.  

                                                           
1
 Figure taken from Local Government Performance Framework - National Indicator 186: Per capita CO

2 
emissions in LA areas 

This section provides information relating to criteria (a) of Policy SR1 of the Sustainable 
Resources DPD. 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 22



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 6 

 
3.5 Not all aspects of Passive Solar Design can be controlled by the planning system, for example 

internal orientation and the use of natural ventilation, however all aspects can lead to 
significant reductions in carbon use.  

 
3.6 The main principles of Passive Solar Design that should be addressed include: 
 

Orientation: Careful orientation of buildings is vital for 
passive solar energy gains. Buildings should 
generally be orientated with the longest face within 
30 degrees of south to maximise solar gain in the 
winter and limit summer overheating because of the 
high angle of the midday sun. Southeasterly 
orientation is generally preferable to south westerly 
as this maximises early morning gains and reduces 
the likelihood of overheating in the afternoon.   

 

Road layout: In order to enable the optimum orientation for buildings for passive solar gain, 
roads in new development should be aligned east west where possible. On north-south roads, 
detached units provide greater flexibility for maximising solar gain, while plots should be set at 
an angle to diagonal roads. Safety and security issues also need to be taken into account 
when designing the orientation and layout of a development by ensuring that streets are well 
overlooked.  

 
Internal layout: Rooms used most often for living and working should be positioned in the 
south facing part of the building with rooms that benefit less from sunlight (such as 
storerooms, bathrooms and toilets) on the north side. Kitchens are also better positioned on 
the north side to avoid excessive heat gain.   

 
Avoidance of overshadowing: Buildings should be 
carefully spaced on site to avoid the overshadowing 
of southern elevations, particularly during winter 
when the sun is low. Taller building should be located 
to the north of the site, or to the south of road 
junctions or open space. Car parking and garages in 
particular can be suitably located in over-shadowed 
areas, particularly to the north of housing.    
 
Window sizing and position: Well-orientated buildings with optimum internal layouts will not 
require especially large south-facing windows. If windows are too large, over heating may 
occur in the summer while heat loss may outweigh solar gain, especially in the winter.  Also, if 
the windows on the other elevations are too small to achieve reasonable internal light, 
occupants will resort to daytime use of artificial lighting, eroding the energy savings from 
passive solar energy.  
 
Natural ventilation: Overheating and the intensity of the summer sun can be a problem. 
Ventilation should therefore be considered as an integral part of a building’s design. Often the 
design can be altered to maximise natural airflows and improve cooling or shade by designing 
deep roof overhangs and external shading blinds. The simplest technique is to plant 
deciduous trees, which lose their leaves in the winter and allow the winter sun to penetrate. 
Mechanical ventilation and air conditioning in commercial buildings consume large amounts of 
energy consequently design techniques such as passive stack ventilation, shallow building 
plans and utilising external shading devices on south facades should be considered. 
 
Building type: Terraces, apartment/office blocks and, to a lesser extent semi-detached 
buildings can reduce heat loss as there are fewer exposed ‘external’ walls. Such house types 
can also be built at greater densities, representing a more efficient use of land. 

 

 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 23



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 7 

 
 
Thermal buffers: Using unheated spaces such as 
conservatories, garages and porches alongside 
heated rooms to act as thermal buffers can reduce 
heat loss.    
 

 
Landscape and topography: Positive use of the local landform and landscape features, 
particularly trees can allow best use of natural daylight, solar energy and wind sheltering. 
Slopes will influence the spacing of buildings for solar access, with southerly slopes allowing 
greater solar access at smaller separations than a level site. Deciduous trees can be carefully 
placed to provide shade in the summer while allowing sunlight to pass through at a low angle 
in winter. Small-scale tree and shrub planting can also provide privacy for ground floor south-
facing living rooms. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Increased Insulation 

 
3.7 Insulation is a key element in improving the energy efficiency of buildings. Heat is lost in 

buildings through the roof, walls, floors and windows and can also be lost from hot water 
storage tanks and pipes. Well-insulated homes, offices and industrial units use less energy, as 
they keep warm in the winter and cool in the summer. Part of L of the Buildings Regulations 
sets out the minimum levels of insulation required in new developments. Developers are 
encouraged to exceed these levels in order to increase the energy efficiency further and 
decrease the predicted energy use of the development. 

 
Energy Efficient Heating and Lighting 

 
3.8 Under Part L of the Building Regulations, residential developers are required to install 

condensing boilers whenever a new gas boiler is to be installed in a development. The 
efficiency of these boilers, and other forms of heating, can be further increased by installing 
heat controls that allow the temperature to be controlled in different parts of the building. Types 
of heating controls include electronic boiler controls for the boiler, room thermostats and 
thermostatic valves on all radiators. 

 
3.9 Energy efficient light fittings can lead to a significant reduction in the amount of electricity used 

for lighting as they will only take low energy light bulbs. These use a ballast or transformer 
fitted into the base of the light fitting. It controls the supply of electricity to the bulb, allowing for 
a small surge of power for a millisecond to light the bulb and then reducing the electricity flow 
to a very low level. 

 
Green Roofs 
 

3.10 Increased pressures on land and increased density levels are likely to have adverse impacts 
on drainage, water abstraction, accessible green space, biodiversity, and local climate 
conditions. A green roof system can play a positive role in mitigating these impacts and 
contributing towards an increase in the quality of the urban environment. Green roofs can 
provide a wide range of benefits to buildings, their owners and users, and the immediate 
environment.  

  

 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 24



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 8 

B. Low Carbon Energy 
 

 

 
 
 
3.11 Key criteria relevant to all low carbon energy schemes are set out in the Sustainable 

Resources DPD and will be used to assess planning applications. While encouragement is 
given to low carbon technology schemes, these criteria seek to ensure any negative impacts 
are satisfactorily addressed. In addition to these criteria, each technology has different 
characteristics, location and technical requirements that raise specific issues that should be 
addressed in any planning application.  

 

3.12 A series of maps produced as part of the Renewable Energy Study give broad locations where 
different technologies may be most suitable based on the criteria in policies SR1 and SR2 of 
the Sustainable Resources DPD. These are attached as Appendix 6. While they provide a 
useful indication of where low carbon energy schemes could be located in the Borough, any 
forthcoming schemes would be assessed on a site-specific basis using the criteria set out in 
the DPD and this SPD. This section is intended to provide more information on the various 
technologies, their requirements and impacts, including how these impacts will be assessed.  

 

3.13 Many of the technologies outlined below are applicable at a micro scale for integration into new 
and refurbished buildings or ‘retro-fitted’ to existing structures. Take up of these technologies 
will be necessary in Chorley to comply with the targets set out in the Sustainable Resources 
DPD, and will be welcomed where they meet the criteria set out in the DPD and below. 
 
Wind energy 

 

3.14 Wind power is a technically proven energy technology for which there is great potential in the 
UK, yet it currently only accounts for around 0.5% of the electricity generated in this country. 
Given this potential, a significant proportion of national and regional targets for increased 
electricity generation from low carbon energy sources is likely to be met by onshore wind 
developments.     

 
3.15 Wind energy involves harnessing of power contained in moving air by wind turbines. Wind 

turbines use aerodynamic forces (‘lift’ and ‘drag’) to produce mechanical power that can be 
converted into energy. Wind developments vary considerably in size, up to large grid 
connected turbines with rotors over 100m in diameter as well as turbines grouped in wind 
farms. In general terms, the larger the turbine (in terms of both height and rotor size) and the 
higher the average wind speed the greater the electricity generated. This is known as ‘rated 
capacity’ which is a measure of the maximum output of the electricity generator - generally 
achieved in wind speeds above 12-15 metres per second (m/s) at the hub (centre point) of the 
rotor. The largest wind turbines generate up to 3 megawatts (MW). Based on average UK 
household consumption figures over the course of a year a turbine of this size would be 
expected to provide enough electricity to serve around 1680 homes. More commonly, wind 
developments have consisted of a number of smaller turbines such as at Coal Clough, near 
Burnley, which is the nearest wind farm to Chorley and was one of the first to be built in the UK 
in 1992. At Coal Clough twenty-four 400 kW turbines supply approximately 5400 homes but 
more recent developments have utilised turbines generating between 1–3 MW as technology 
has advanced. Wind turbines are particularly suitable in industrial areas. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

This section provides information relating to criteria (b) of Policy SR1 and Policy SR2 of the 
Sustainable Resources DPD.  

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 25



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 9 

3.16 Building-mounted micro turbines are an 
emerging technology and are likely to become 
more common in both rural and urban areas. 
They are available with either horizontal or 
vertical axes, the former having a diameter of 
less than less than 1.75 m.  

 
3.17 Criteria for assessing low carbon energy 

projects are set out in the Development Plan 
Document. The following aspects will be 
specifically relevant to wind power applications 
and should be addressed in all submissions. 

 
ISSUES TO BE ADDRESSED IN WIND POWER APPLICATIONS 

Landscape and 
Visual Impacts 

Modern wind turbines are large structures, up to and over 100 metres tall. Along with 
associated infrastructure, including tracks, foundations, hard-standings and substations 
they will inevitably have an impact on the landscape and the visual environment. Even 
small building mounted turbines will have a visual impact in both urban and rural areas. All 
turbines should be carefully sited, where possible using the existing landform to limit 
impacts on sensitive views. Each scheme will be assessed on a site-specific basis. Smaller 
scale developments (defined as single commercial-scale turbines, community and domestic 
turbines) will be permitted provided there is no significant environmental detriment to the 
area concerned. Building-mounted turbines should, so far as practicable, be sited so as to 
minimise their effect on the external appearance of the building and streetscene, for 
example upon non-public frontages and below the highest part of the roof or chimney, but 
at the same time making sure that they are in a good position to work. Evidence of viability 
for domestic wind turbines will be required to ensure that cumulatively there is not a 
detrimental impact on the character of the area. 

Ecological 
Impacts 

Developers should consult with Natural England and other relevant national, regional and 
local organisations regarding the presence and importance of species and habitats in and 
around proposed development sites and assess any potential impacts and mitigation 
measures.  Ornithological concerns are of particular relevance and the design and layout of 
wind developments should take account of the risk of ‘bird strike’, loss of habitat and 
changes to the landscape.   

Noise 

Noise levels from modern turbines are generally low and, under most operating conditions, 
are unlikely to exceed background noise. Any increases in ambient noise levels should be 
kept to acceptable levels in relation to existing background noise. In accordance with 
Planning Policy Statement 22 (PPS22), the framework described by ‘The Assessment and 
Rating of Noise from Wind Farms’ (report by ETSU for the Department of Trade and 
Industry, 1997) should be used to assess the noise from wind energy developments. In 
summary, noise should be limited to 5 dB(A) above background noise and an absolute level 
within the range of 35 to 40 dB(A) in low noise environments during the day.  

Shadow Flicker 

Under specific circumstances, the sun passing behind the rotors of a wind turbine will create 
a shadow. When the blades rotate, the shadow flicks on and off, an effect known as 
‘shadow flicker’. Problems caused by shadow flicker are rare as in the UK it only occurs 
inside buildings within 130 degrees of north relative to the turbine and where the flicker 
appears through a narrow window opening. The occurrence and duration of shadow flicker 
is also dependant on a number of other factors including the time of the year (relating to the 
height of the sun), time of day, the distance and height of the turbine and the prevailing 
conditions - shadow flicker mainly occurs in bright sunshine and cloudless skies. In practice, 
therefore, a single window in a building will only be affected, if at all, for a few minutes at 
certain times of the day during short periods of the year. Shadow flicker can be mitigated by 
siting wind turbines at sufficient distance from the residences likely to be affected. It has 
been demonstrated that flicker effects occur only within ten rotor diameters of a turbine. 
Applicants should provide an analysis to quantify the effect of shadow flicker upon any 
buildings within this distance of proposed wind turbines.      

Wind speed 

The energy produced by a wind turbine depends largely on the strength of the wind at the 
site of the turbine. Intermittency and variations in wind speed are also important. Map 1 
(Appendix 7) shows there is an average wind speed of above 4 m/s across the whole of 
Chorley, with areas to the west, east and south averaging higher wind speeds. Micro 
turbines currently start generating electricity at 4 m/s thus there is the potential for them to 
be installed across the Borough.  Larger turbines require higher average wind speeds of 
around 6.5 m/s (at 40 metres above ground level). It may be necessary to erect a temporary 
anemometer for a period of around 12 months in order to assess whether a particular site 
will be suitable in terms of wind speed. In such instances these same criteria will apply in 
determining any planning application. 

 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 26



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 10

Site Access 

Amendments to existing road networks required to gain access to sites proposed for wind 
turbine developments, both during the initial construction and for subsequent maintenance, 
should be detailed in the planning application along with any on-site tracks and assessed in 
terms of their impact on the landscape, local traffic and in terms of potentially providing 
easier access to the area. Where possible, land converted to access roads and tracks 
should be reinstated or the infrastructure scaled down.        

Electromagnetic 
Interference 

Wind turbines may interfere with electromagnetic signals affecting communication systems 
that use electromagnetic waves as the transmission medium, including television, radio and 
emergency services networks. OFCOM are able to provide details of all the microwave links 
that may be affected by a development and the applicant should come to an agreement with 
all relevant link operators prior to submitting a planning application.         

Cultural 
Heritage 

Wind turbines and ancillary infrastructure can have a significant impact on the setting of 
sites, buildings, monuments and historic landscapes and upon archaeological interests in 
both rural and urban areas (Map 3 in Appendix 7 identifies such sites in the Borough). 
Building mounted and small freestanding turbines have a strong contemporary design that 
is likely to contrast greatly with traditional buildings and streetscapes. Where they are to be 
incorporated into traditional forms and layouts great care will be needed to ensure that their 
siting does not cause detriment to the historic form. Design solutions should be sought that 
minimise the views of the turbine and avoid siting in prominent locations. The incorporation 
of micro-turbines into any new development presents unique opportunities to the developer. 
Care should be taken to ensure they do not become the dominant form within the 
streetscape but instead add to the spatial and architectural interest of the development. 
Contact the Council’s Conservation Officer for further advice.  

Cumulative 
Impacts 

The level at which significant cumulative impacts occur is dependent on the scale and 
proximity of wind energy developments, the character and sensitivity of the landscape, the 
location and detailed design of the development. Each application will be assessed on it’s 
own merits in light of baseline conditions at the time of the application. The potential for 
additional wind turbines cannot be taken into consideration when determining a planning 
application. 

 
Hydropower 

 
3.18 Water flowing from a higher to a lower level can 

be channelled through a turbine to produce 
electricity. The amount of power produced is 
dependant on the volume of water and rate at 
which it flows. Canals, rivers and reservoirs in 
Chorley may all be suitable for small or micro 
scale hydroelectric schemes, generating up to 
1MW for connection to the electricity grid or to 
supply power to single point users. Any 
planning application for such a scheme would 
also require Environment Agency land drainage 
consent under the Water Resources Act. An 
impoundment license may also be required 
under the same act.  

 
ISSUES TO BE ADDRESSED IN HYDROPOWER APPLICATIONS 

Landscape and 
Visual Impacts 

Small-scale hydropower schemes consist of a number of built elements, including a small 
dam, barrage or weir, a turbine house containing the turbine, generator and ancillary 
equipment and a tailrace returning the water to the watercourse. Changes to the water 
regime, such as changes in water levels and flow and the creation of small reservoirs can 
also have potential visual impacts. All built development should be sensitively sited and 
designed so as to integrate into the landscape by careful use of landform, materials, 
vegetation and tree cover and, where appropriate, new planting. In addition to new 
schemes, there are a number of old water mills in the Borough that could be adapted to 
generate electricity. Restoration should be sympathetic to the historic design and materials. 

Ecological 
Impacts 

The risk of hydropower schemes to fisheries should be addressed and, where necessary, 
dams and weirs should include structures such as fish passes to protect fish, particularly 
migratory species, and other freshwater animals from the turbines. Risks of damage to 
aquatic life can also be mitigated by careful design and adjustment of the seasonal 
operating schedule of the plant. Developers should liase with the Environment Agency and 
Natural England to establish the required environmental information and the potential 
impacts that are to be considered. 

 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 27



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 11

Noise 

The noise emitted from a hydroelectric turbine is likely to be contained by the turbine house 
and not heard more than a few metres away. Where residential properties are located in 
close proximity to a proposed scheme, noise limits may be imposed as a condition of 
granting planning permission. 

Cultural Heritage 

Hydropower is an important element of Chorley’s industrial history, having been used to 
power factories and mills. Where waterpower features remain, their reinstatement and 
adaptation to provide modern small-scale hydropower can bring positive regeneration 
benefits. Where these opportunities exist, restoration schemes will be supported provided 
they are carried out in a sympathetic manner, which respects the historic value of existing 
features. Where new facilities are proposed, an archaeological assessment and evaluation 
of the site may be likely at an early stage. 

 
Landfill Gas 

 
3.19 The natural processes of decay in biodegradable waste in landfill sites produces gas, in 

particular methane, which has historically been ‘flared’ (converted to CO2). At larger landfill 
sites however, sufficient quantities of gas are produced to make electricity production a viable 
alternative. There are three existing operation schemes in the Borough at Ulnes Walton and 
Rigby Houghton, Adlington, which have a generating capacity of 3MW and at Withnell with a 
generating capacity of 2MW.  

 
3.20 Landfill gas generation plants are unlikely to create any additional impacts further to those 

created by the landfill site itself however, the following factors may be relevant where sites are 
located close to residential areas: 

 
ISSUES TO BE ADDRESSED IN LANDFILL GAS APPLICATIONS 

Landscape and 
Visual Impacts 

Mitigation measures should be proposed where landfill gas plants would cause visual 
intrusion, particularly where extraction and landfill works have ended and the site is 
undergoing restoration.   

Local Amenity 
Applicants should demonstrate that the proposed development would not cause undue 
harm to local residents in terms of noise, odour and pollution. 

 
Biomass   

 
3.21 Biomass is a collective term for all plant and animal material. A number of different forms of 

biomass can be burned or digested (see anaerobic digestion below) to produce heat (for space 
and water heating) and electricity. An increasing range of fuels, known as ‘biofuels’ are now 
being utilised with the most common being wood-based. Providing the wood burned as fuel 
comes from sustainable sources, the carbon dioxide released during combustion is balanced 
by that absorbed by trees planted in its place. As biomass is produced from organic matter 
over a much shorter period of time than fossil fuels, which take millions of years to create, it 
can be a carbon neutral process.   

 

3.22 Wood is usually used as logs, wood chip or wood pellets - a compact form of wood, which has 
low moisture content and high energy density. At a domestic scale there are two main 
applications of biomass, stand-alone stoves and central heating boilers. Wood burning stoves 
are fuelled by logs or wood pellets and have become increasingly popular in households due 
to their aesthetic qualities. They also have significant benefits in providing space heating for 
rooms where they are located and provide an output of between 6-12 kW, achieving 
efficiencies of over 80%. There are also many domestic scale log, wood chip and wood pellet 
burning central heating boilers available. As with conventional boilers, these wood-fired 
systems provide hot water and central heating via radiators. Log boilers require manual 
loading but are less expensive than wood pellet, wood chip or dual-fire (pellets and chips) 
systems. In these more sophisticated systems the fuel can be automatically fed, making it 
easier to supply heat when it is required. Higher output wood burning stoves can also be fitted 
with an integral back boiler for the purpose of providing both hot water and central heating. 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 28



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 12

3.23 The cost of wood-fired stoves and boilers 
depends on the type and size of system but as 
a guide, stand alone room heaters cost £1,500-
£3,000 installed and a typical 20 kW wood pellet 
boiler, the average size needed for a three bed 
semi-detached house, costs around £5,000. 
This means wood heating has amongst the 
lowest capital costs of all the low carbon 
technologies, being almost as cheap as mains 
gas. However, unlike other forms of low carbon 
energy, biomass systems still require the 
purchase of fuel. In addition to homes, they can 
be used in many other sectors such as schools, 
offices and industrial premises.  

 
3.24 On a larger scale wood and other biomass products can also be used for the production of 

electricity. The main method of producing electricity from wood is a combustion plant (where 
the material is burned to produce steam) although there are two other possibilities, namely, 
gasification (where the material is heated in such a way that gases are given off) and pyrolysis 
(where the wood is heated in the absence of oxygen to produce a bio-oil liquid with some 
charcoal and gas). 

 
3.25 Internal small-scale wood burning appliances do not require planning permission, however, in 

a Listed Building or Conservation the Council’s Conservation Officer should be contacted for 
advice before any work is undertaken. The installation of wood fuel appliances must also 
comply with all safety and building regulations. 

 
Anaerobic Digestion 
 

3.26 In addition to the combustion of biomass material, organic wastes can be digested under 
anaerobic (oxygen-free) conditions by bacteria to produce a flammable gas consisting mainly 
of methane and carbon dioxide. This biogas can be used to generate electricity and/or hot 
water. Projects can be developed on a small-scale to suit individual facilities and wastes (for 
example, in farm or dairy situations) or on a much larger scale to take a variety of wastes as 
part of a Centralised Anaerobic Digestion (CAD) facility. 

 
3.27 Applications for larger-scale biomass plants requiring planning permission will be assessed 

against the criteria set out in the Sustainable Resources Development Plan Document. The 
following specific issues should be considered: 
 
ISSUES TO BE ADDRESSED IN BIOMASS APPLICATIONS 

Landscape and 
Visual Impacts 

Where biomass plants cannot be housed in existing buildings, new or adapted units should, 
where possible, be located close to existing buildings (excluding residential dwellings) and 
designed to fit into their surroundings. Due to their appearance and impacts on amenity 
discussed below, larger plants should be located within existing industrial areas. 

Noise 

Engines, condensers and chippers may all create noise within biomass plants. This noise 
should not cause an unacceptable degree of disturbance to surrounding amenities and, 
where relevant, facilities should adhere to the British Standards for controlling noise 
pollution.   

Odour 
The impacts of odour from a proposed biomass plant and methods for controlling it must be 
detailed in the planning application in order that it does not unduly harm residential amenity. 

Pollution 

Developers must satisfy the relevant pollution control authority that potential emissions can 
be adequately regulated under the pollution control framework. Cumulative effects of 
existing sources of pollution in and around the site and the proposed development must be 
addressed. 

Cultural heritage 
Listed Buildings may require Listed Building Consent for installation of biomass boilers. 
Contact the Council’s Conservation Officer for further advice. 

 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 29



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 13

Transport 

The environmental impact of transporting biofuels long distances to biomass generation 
plants can outweigh the positive benefits of such facilities, therefore plants should be 
located in close proximity to a fuel source. Costs of delivery also significantly increase with 
distance. It is suggested that a 4 MW facility should be located within 40 km of a wood fuel 
resource that is a minimum of 4,000 ha and/or 20,000 tonnes of forestry waste. In addition, 
biomass plants have the potential to be traffic intensive with delivery of fuel occurring 
regularly. Surrounding roads should have adequate existing capacity to serve the plant. The 
impact of traffic upon surrounding amenities should be assessed. 

 
3.28 The growing of fuel for biomass plants, for example short rotation coppice, does not fall under 

the control of the planning system. 
 

Solar power 
 

3.29 Light and heat from the sun can be utilised to generate energy in two ways. Photovoltaic (PV) 
systems convert solar radiation into electricity using semi-conductors within photovoltaic cells 
while Solar Water Heating (SWH) systems are designed to capture the heat of the sun and use 
it to directly heat water. Both systems are well suited to the urban environment as they are 
entirely silent and release no emissions.    
 
Photovoltaics   
 

3.30 Individual PV cells are most commonly interconnected to form solar modules or panels, 
mounted upon pitched roofs, however, modules can also be mounted on the side of buildings 
and on free standing support structures on the ground. PV can also be integrated into the roof 
or façade of buildings through, for example, the use of PV tiles, cladding and other solar 
building solutions, which are often indistinguishable from conventional building materials.  

 
3.31 Solar panels are typically 0.5 – 1m² in size with 

a peak output of 70 to 160 watts. Typical 
domestic installations comprise of an ‘array’ of 
connected panels covering 10-15m². A system 
this size will produce up to 2 kW peak output, 
which in the UK would be expected to produce 
1500 kWh - enough to provide approximately 
one third of the average family’s annual supply. 
Where PV systems are grid-connected, surplus 
electricity not consumed within the building can 
be exported to the local distribution network with 
many suppliers buying the ‘exported’ electricity.  
A typical 2 MW peak capacity PV scheme would 
cost between £12,000 and £15,000.  

 
Solar Water Heating 

 
3.32 Employing similar technology to PV systems, radiation from the sun is collected by ‘absorbers’ 

within either flat plate or evacuated tube collectors and transferred as heat to a fluid, most 
obviously cold water. The climate in the North West is suitable for Solar Water Heating 
systems as year-round sun is not required. Modern systems will make a significant contribution 
to water heating requirements, providing 50 - 60% of annual domestic hot water requirements 
and can also be used to provide space heating.  

 
3.33 The following issues should be considered where solar panels are proposed and will be 

relevant in addition to the criteria set out in the Sustainable Resources Development Plan 
Document: 

 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 30



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 14

ISSUES TO BE CONSIDERED IN SOLAR POWER APPLICATIONS 

Siting Issues 

Solar panels are best positioned facing due south at an angle of between 20-40 degrees; 
however, PV and SWH systems can function at an inclination of between 10 and 60 
degrees and within 90 degrees of due south. Shadows from buildings, trees and other 
structures should be avoided as these can significantly reduce the performance of solar 
panels. 

Cultural Heritage 

Permission for solar panels in Conservation Areas, on a Listed Building or another building 
or structure within the curtilage of a Listed Building will only be granted where the 
character, appearance and special architectural or historical interest of the area or building 
are preserved.     

 
Ground Source Heat Pumps (GSHP or GHP) 
 

3.34 Ground Source Heat Pumps transfer the heat from the ground into a building to provide space 
heating. They can also be used to pre-heat domestic water. Heat is drawn from the ground 
using ‘ground loop’ – a closed circuit of piping buried in the ground in either a borehole or 
horizontal trench and heat pump. The technology is relatively well established as heat pumps 
are already used in fridges and air conditioning units. For every unit of electricity used to pump 
the heat, 3-4 units of heat are produced. They can be designed to meet 100% of space heating 
requirements but they will usually only pre-heat domestic hot water so top up heating (e.g. an 
immersion heater) will be required.    

 
3.35 There are fewer planning issues associated with ground source heat pumps as they are 

unlikely to be visually intrusive and often the main components are located under ground or 
within buildings. Planning applications will be assessed using the criteria set out in the 
Development Plan Document. Where excavations for horizontal trenches for ground loops 
involve sizable areas of land the following issues need to be addressed: 

 
ISSUES TO BE ADDRESSED IN GSHP APPLICATIONS 

Ecological 
Impacts 

Disruption of sensitive habitats such as species-rich grasslands should be avoided and all 
sites sensitively restored. Drilling through contaminated ground or soil poses significant risk 
of pollution to groundwater. Before any work begins the site must be assessed in order to 
establish whether there is any contamination. Boreholes will need to be designed so that 
groundwater is not polluted. Approval from the Environment Agency may be required 
before proceeding. 

Cultural Heritage 

Consideration should be given to possible archaeological interests in the land. Before any 
work takes place it needs to be established whether there are any archaeological remains 
on the site and if this has implications for the work involved. Lancashire County 
Archaeological Service can provide information and advice to applicants. The interior of 
Listed Building are protected therefore ground source heat pumps in Listed Buildings may 
require planning permission. 

 
Combined Heat and Power (CHP) 
 

3.36 Conventional forms of power generation not only produce harmful greenhouse gases, they are 
also highly inefficient. The efficiency of power stations supplying energy distributed through the 
national grid can be as little as 22% at the point of use. Combined Heat and Power (CHP) is a 
much more fuel-efficient energy technology that recovers the heat that is a by-product of 
electricity generation and distributes it alongside electricity in the form of hot water for space 
heating. The energy generated is up to 90% efficient and CHP will typically reduce carbon 
emissions by 60%. CHP systems are located at the point of consumption meaning there is 
very little loss of energy through transmission and distribution and greater resilience to supply 
disruption as power is produced locally and independently of the grid. In many instances, any 
excess electricity generated by a CHP unit can be exported and sold to the grid thus 
shortening the capital cost payback period. CHP is possible at a variety of scales, including 
micro to serve individual buildings.   

 
3.37 CHP plants can be adaptable to different fuels. Conventionally, natural gas is used but fuels 

such as biogas, biomass and hydrogen can also be used and offer a more sustainable 
alternative. Further efficiency savings can be made with the addition of an absorption chiller, 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 31



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 15

which allows the CHP system to provide cooling, potentially for air conditioning and 
refrigeration. The main markets for CHP tend to be those with high heat requirements, for 
example flats, high density housing, leisure centres, hospitals and industrial sites with process 
heating requirements, especially the chemical, brewing and paper industries. Sewage 
treatment works sometimes use CHP fuelled by biogas, emissions released during the 
decomposition of sewage. 

 
3.38 The emerging market for domestic or micro CHP systems has significant potential to improve 

energy efficiency and reduce energy bills in homes, offices and other buildings where fitted in 
place of standard domestic boilers.  

 
3.39 There are few planning considerations in relation to CHP, however if it were to be used to 

supply the needs of a number of buildings the unit would be large and additional space would 
be needed. The interior of Listed Buildings are protected, therefore planning permission may 
be required for the installation of CHP. 

 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 32



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 16 

C. Water 
 

 

 

 

 
3.40 Human disruption to the earth’s natural water cycle, including the impact of climate change, 

has resulted in intensified periods of both drought and flooding in Britain as well as elsewhere.  
The treatment, purification and transport of water for domestic, commercial and industrial 
applications is also a major use of energy. The sustainable use of water is vital in contributing 
to the reduction of the impact and occurrence of both droughts and flooding and reducing 
energy use. A wide variety of measures can be included in new development to reduce water 
consumption and improve the efficiency with which water is used. Applicants will be expected 
to provide evidence of how the following measures have been incorporated into new 
development, where appropriate: 

 

Rainwater Harvesting 
 

3.41 Average annual rainfall in Chorley is 877 mm. Rather than allowing this rainwater to soak into 
the ground, evaporate or to enter the drainage system it can be captured from roofs and other 
impermeable surfaces and put to a variety of uses. Simple systems involve the use of a water 
butt to collect water for irrigating gardens. Rainwater can be better for plants than tap water 
because it is very rich in natural minerals that are removed by treatment processes. In more 
sophisticated systems, tanks have filters that remove all debris and particles from the water 
making it clean and suitable for most uses not requiring drinking water standard, including 
washing the car, flushing the toilet and running a washing machine. Toilet flushing accounts for 
about a third of water use in a typical UK household and the water used is unnecessarily 
treated to drinking water standard. Overall, the amount of water saved, cost and payback 
period for Rainwater Harvesting Systems is dependant on the size and type of system 
installed, amount of rainfall and cost of mains water but a typical domestic installation will 
provide nearly all household water requirements not requiring drinking water standard. This will 
save around 50% on mains water consumption and will have a payback period of between 10-
15 years, although this can be as low as 2-5 years for larger commercial systems.      
 
Greywater Recycling 

 
3.42 Greywater is wastewater from showers, baths, washbasins, washing machines and kitchen 

sinks. Like rainwater this can be used for a number of uses not requiring drinking water 
standard, in particular watering the garden and toilet flushing. Greywater requires filtration and 
chemical or biological treatment prior to reuse. Systems are most suited to multi-occupancy 
buildings as these are likely to have greater water circulation ensuring the greywater used is 
fresh rather than having had a long storage residence time in the system.   

 
Water saving devices 

 
3.43 In addition to the use of rainwater and greywater, there are a number of devices that aid water 

conservation in the home or workplace. These devices should be incorporated into the design 
of new developments but can also be integrated into existing buildings:   

 

Low-flush and dual-flush toilets: The volume of water used to flush the toilet represents a 
significant proportion of a buildings water use. Newer toilets have smaller cisterns and thus 
use less water. The capacity of cisterns can be further reduced with the use of cistern dams or 
water savers such as a ‘hippo’ or ‘hog’. Dual flush toilets have two different flush volumes, for 
example a standard 6-litre flush and a reduced flush of 4 litres, or 4 and 2 litres in the more 
efficient toilets.   
 

This section provides information relating to criteria (c) of Policy SR1 of the Sustainable 
Resources DPD. 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 33



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 17 

Waterless toilets and urinals: Standard urinals use around 6-10 litres of water to flush. 
Waterless urinals, which use none, can thus offer substantial savings, particularly in buildings 
with high levels of occupancy, such as offices, schools and hotels. Waterless toilets have also 
been successfully installed in new and retrofit situations in a number of dwellings in the UK, 
albeit mainly those in rural areas not connected to a mains sewer. There are two basic types: 
a composting toilet and an incinerating toilet.  

 

Low water use appliances: Low water use domestic white goods e.g. washing machines and 
dishwashers should be specified as these can use significantly less water and energy, 
especially in comparison to older appliances.  
 
Spray taps: Low flow spray taps can save up to 80% of the water and energy used in 
comparison to standard pillar taps and are cost-effective and easy to fit. Sensor-operated taps 
further ensure minimal consumption of water per use. Showers (excluding power showers) 
generally use less than half the water needed to take a bath and aerated spay showerheads 
can also reduce water consumption.   

 
Controlled intermittent supplies: Using ‘petrol-pump’ types of supply can cut the amount of 
main water used for certain applications, particularly industrial processes such as cooling, 
cleaning or washing finished articles, workspaces or vehicles where normally a tap or hose 
would have been left running all the time. 

 
Landscaping: Consideration should be given to gardens and landscaping schemes which 
require little or no irrigation. Preference should be given to existing native and/or drought-
resistant plant types and water-retaining mulches. If watering is necessary, rainwater or 
recycled greywater should be used to water gardens rather the mains supply.  
 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 

 
3.44 Sustainable Drainage Systems seek to control surface water run-off – rainfall that is not 

absorbed by the ground or by trees and plants or evaporated.  A variety of methods are used 
to decrease the amount of surface runoff, decrease the velocity of surface runoff or divert it for 
other purposes, thereby reducing the contribution it makes to sewer discharge and flooding.  
There are a number of elements that can combine to form a Sustainable Drainage System 
including soakaways; permeable and porous surfaces, e.g. paving; ponds, basins or swales for 
temporary storage during heavy rainfall (detention basins) or longer term storage (retention 
basins); channels to divert water from undesirable locations and structures that increase the 
lag between a rainfall event and discharge of water to the drainage system by increasing 
infiltration.  

 
3.45 The SuDS approach is particularly suited to 

urban areas where high-density development 
and extensive impermeable surfaces mean 
surface runoff can easily cause flooding, either 
directly or indirectly through sewers becoming 
overloaded. They can also provide landscape, 
amenity and biodiversity benefits. An interim 
Code of Practice for SuDS has been developed 
by the National SuDs Working Group and can 
be accessed at www.ciria.org/suds/icop.htm  

 

 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 34



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 18 

D. Waste Recycling 
 

 

 

 

 

3.46 Around 64% of all municipal waste is sent to landfill. This is becoming increasingly 
unsustainable as sites are rapidly reaching their capacity. There are three ‘live’ landfill sites in 
the Borough that accept waste but they cannot continue to do so forever and there are limited 
opportunities for identifying land suitable for new landfill sites. Transporting waste to other sites 
is expensive and has its own environmental implications. Landfill sites are also a major source 
of methane, which along with carbon dioxide is a major contributor to climate change.  

 
3.47 In 2010 a new Waste Technology Park in Leyland is due to open. All non-recyclable waste 

collected in Chorley Borough will be sent there for treatment, reducing the amount of waste 
sent to landfill. The Park will also have facilities to compost food and garden waste and accept 
recycling. 

 
3.48 In April 2005 the Borough Council enhanced its kerbside 

recycling and household refuse collection service, 
introducing an ‘alternate weekly’ collection system to 
increase the percentage of waste recycled in the Borough. 
Newspapers and magazines, plastic bottles, glass bottles 
and jars, cans and foil, cardboard, textiles and garden 
waste is all collected on a fortnightly cycle. To aid this 
service, households have been supplied with various 
different receptacles to segregate waste.  

 
3.49 In addition to this kerbside collection service there are a 

number of ‘bring’ recycling sites across the borough where 
recyclable waste can be deposited. The Lower Burgh 
Household Waste Recycling Centre in Chorley, offers 
comprehensive facilities for recycling green waste, wood, 
oil, batteries, plastics, rubble, soil, paints and cardboard. In 
addition, householders can dispose of asbestos sheeting, 
fridges and freezers, electrical goods, gas bottles and some 
chemicals. There are similar sites just outside the Borough 
at Station Road, Rufford and Flensburg Way, Farrington.   

 
3.50 Home composting is another means of recycling and minimising household waste. Green 

waste from the garden including grass cuttings, twigs, leaves, hedge cuttings, plants, weeds 
and flowers and organic kitchen waste such as vegetable scraps – and even teabags! – can be 
turned into compost for use in the garden. This helps the environment by reducing the amount 
of rubbish thrown away and the number of car journeys to tips, reducing the need for chemical 
fertilisers and eliminating the need to use peat (peat bogs are home to some of our rarest 
plants and animals). If you regularly buy products to improve your garden, composting can 
also, therefore, save you money. Home composting requires little technology – all you need is 
a suitable space and a compost bin or heap.  A limited number of free compost bins are 
available to households in Chorley through Lancashire's Home Composting scheme, a 
partnership of Lancashire County Council, WRAP and local district and unitary authorities (see 
Appendix 2 for more details). 

 
3.51 In order to promote and support recycling in the Borough, provision should be made in new 

developments for sufficient facilities and enough space for composting organic waste, and for 
the storage of materials that can be recycled. In addition, new development should be located 
where there is adequate accessibility to bring recycling sites or provide space for such sites. 

This section provides information relating to criteria (d) of Policy SR1 of the Sustainable 
Resources DPD. 

 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 35



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 19 

4. Other Useful Information  
 
 
 

 
 

Energy efficiency during construction 

 
4.1 As stated in Policy SR1 of the Sustainable Resources DPD all new dwellings will be required 

to meet level 3 of the Code for Sustainable Homes by 2010, which contains requirements 
relating to the sustainable use of materials. Although not specifically covered in the criteria of 
Policy SR1, the sustainable use of materials must still be addressed in all residential planning 
applications in order to meet level 3 of the Code and be granted planning permission from 
2010 onwards. The information provided below provides useful information on the sustainable 
use of materials during construction. The materials used in construction and redevelopment 
have a significant impact on the energy efficiency of buildings. 10% of the total energy 
consumed in England and Wales annually is from the manufacture and transport of building 
materials. 

 
4.2 In addition to this, as of 6 April 2008 all construction projects of over £300,000 are required to 

include a Site Waste Management Plan as part of the Site Waste Management Plans 
Regulations 2007. Construction and demolition waste represents a significant proportion of 
total waste generation. Reclaiming, reusing and recycling materials can reduce much of the 36 
million tonnes of construction industry waste deposited at landfill annually in the UK and 
significantly reduce energy use. This applies to all development, from small household 
extensions to large housing developments, industrial units and offices etc.  Advice on energy 
efficient construction is set out below. 

 
Reuse of buildings 
 

4.3 The retention of existing building materials can, where the building is sound, be extended to 
the reuse of a whole building, in preference to a rebuild. In such cases consideration should be 
given to the need to improve the energy efficiency of the building. Listed Building Consent may 
be required to improve the energy efficiency of Listed Buildings, all proposed works to a Listed 
Building should be discussed with the Council’s Conservation Officer.  

 
Use of salvaged building materials 
 

4.4 Consideration should be given to the use of recycled building materials, either from 
demolished buildings that once occupied the site, or from places nearby such as those 
acquired from second-hand building materials suppliers. The re-use of brick, stone, slate and 
timber will reduce the amount of waste produced by a development and the cost of new 
materials. The selection of materials should also be influenced by consideration of the 
possibility of future recycling, at the end of the useful life of the building. For this reason 
materials should be capable of separation for re-use. Lime mortars for example never set as 
hard as cement and one of the big advantages is that the mortar can be cleaned from the brick 
making it possible to be reused. In contrast cement mortars cannot be easily removed making 
bricks good for nothing more than hardcore. Locally sourced and reused materials can also 
reflect the local character and minimise the energy used in transportation.  
 
Low impact building materials 
 

4.5 Where new building materials are required they should be selected on the basis of a 
sustainable supply and on the basis of the least possible energy consumption being involved in 
their manufacture. ‘Embodied energy’ is the energy used in obtaining the raw materials and 
manufacturing a product. Materials with very high-embodied energy such as aluminium and 

This section provides further information on ways to use resources sustainably. The 
following ARE NOT required by the Sustainable Resources DPD but are encouraged, in 
order to further reduce the energy use and increase the energy efficiency of buildings 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 36



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 20 

plastic, particularly uPVC, require a high energy input in their manufacture and thus, where 
practicable, should be avoided. Brick production is an energy intensive industry and therefore it 
is often better to reuse old bricks wherever possible. Cement production is also an energy 
intensive process and as such cement should be used sparingly. Lime mortars are a viable 
alternative to using cement. 

 
4.6 Low impact materials include earth, straw, cork and hemp. Timber is also a relatively low 

impact product providing it is sourced from certified sustainable sources, such as those 
accredited with the Forrest Stewardship Council (FSC) trademark.  

 
Energy efficiency in the home 
 

4.7 Alongside reducing the amount of energy we use it is equally important to ensure what energy 
we do use is used efficiently and as little as possible is wasted. There are many cheap and 
simple techniques for improving energy efficiency in the home. Some of these are set out 
below. More detailed information is available at www.energysavingtrust.org.uk 

 
Insulation 

 
4.8 In a typical house half the heat is lost through the walls and loft. Ensuring that a house is fully 

insulated can significantly reduce energy bills. For more information on insulation and grants 
that are available visit www.energysavingtrust.org.uk  

 
4.9 Sustainable insulation materials are also available such as recycled newspapers and sheep’s 

wool. 
 

Draught proofing 
 
4.10 There are many simple draft-proofing measures that can help insulate a house. These include: 

� Using shutters for windows and/or thicker curtains that do not drape over radiators. 
� Placing aluminium foil behind radiators to reflect heat into the room. 
� Attaching brush seals to doors and letterboxes. 
� Placing self-adhesive sealant strips round doorframes and windows to eliminate any 

draughts. 
 
Lighting 

 
4.11 In most homes lighting accounts for 10-15% of the electricity use. This can be reduced by 

turning off lights when leaving a room, using energy saving light bulbs and by adjusting 
curtains and blinds to let in more natural light. Energy efficient light fittings are now also 
available. 
 
Appliances 

 
4.12 Appliances such as washing machines, fridges and dishwashers now come with a European 

Union energy label which classifies their energy rating from A (most efficient) to G (most 
inefficient). This assists consumers to choose energy efficient products. The more efficient 
models can be more expensive but the savings to electricity bills will outweigh the extra cost 
over the lifetime of the appliance. Ensuring washing machines and dishwashers are full before 
use and turning electrical equipment off rather than on standby when not being used can also 
further reduce electricity use. 

 
Heating 
 

4.13 The following can significantly reduce the amount of energy required to heat buildings and 
consequently reduce heating bills: 
� Installing a condensing boiler will save around a third on heating bills. 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 37



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 21 

� Fit a 75mm thick insulating jacket around the hot water tank if it is not already insulated. 
They only cost around £12 and can save around £40 a year on heating bills. 

� Set the thermostat at the lowest comfortable temperature, which is typically around 18-
21°C. Lowering the thermostat by just 1°C can save around £65 a year on heating bills. 

� Setting the hot water cylinder thermostat to 60°C will save money on heating bills. Any 
higher is a waste of energy. 

� Bleeding radiators from time to time will keep radiators working at their maximum output. 
� Closing curtains at dusk will reduce the amount of heat escaping through windows. 

 

 Extensions 
 
4.14 Proposed extensions should also incorporate energy efficiency measures. Conservatories 

should be built on south facing walls to take advantage of the principles of passive solar design 
as set out in section 3A and act as a thermal buffer to reduce heat loss from a house. Porches 
can also act as thermal buffers as they reduce heat loss from external doors. 

 
4.15 The ‘Energy efficiency during construction’ section above provides useful information on the 

sustainable use of building materials. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 38



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 22 

APPENDIX 1: GLOSSARY 
 
AMR – Annual Monitoring Report (assesses the progress of the Local Development Scheme 
and the extent to which Local Development Plan policies area being implemented). 

 
BREEAM – Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method (Industry 
standard used to measure sustainability of buildings). 

 
CS – Core Strategy (set out the long- term spatial vision for the local planning authority and 
spatial objectives and strategic policies to deliver that vision). 

 
DPD – Development Plan Document (Spatial planning documents that are subject to 
independent examination, together with the Regional Spatial Strategy make up the 
Development Plan). 

 
GONW – Government Office for the North West (local office of Central government in 
Manchester). 

 
Issues and Options - (produced during the early production stage of the preparation of 
Development Plan Documents and may be issued for consultation to meet the requirements of 
Regulation 25). 

 
JLSP – Joint Lancashire Structure Plan (development plan document that is part of the LDD). 

 
LDD – Local Development Document (collective name for Development Plan Documents, 
Supplementary Planning Documents and Statement of Community Involvement). 

 
LDF – Local Development Framework (portfolio of Local Development Documents. It includes 
Development Plan Documents, Supplementary Planning Documents, Statement of Community 
Involvement, the Local Development Scheme and Annual Monitoring Reports). 

 
LDS – Local Development Scheme (sets out the programme for preparing Local Development 
Documents). 

 
Nationally designated areas - Scheduled Ancient Monuments; Parks and Gardens of Special 
Historic Interest and Sites of Special Scientific Interest. 

 
Non-grey water - treated water direct from the mains. 

 
PINS – Planning Inspectorate (Independent Inspectorate appointed by the Secretary of State 
to judge on documents and representations made. Write reports on whether the proposed 
policies are acceptable following on from the Examination in Public, which the Local Authority 
must accept). 

 
PPS – Planning Policy Statement (Central Government planning policy document that is 
required to be followed when determining planning applications and producing policies). 

 
Preferred Options - (produced as part of the preparation of Development Plan Documents, 
and issued for formal public consultation as required by Regulation 26). 

 
Public Examination – (hearing in which the development plan is tested for soundness. Non-
adversarial way of testing soundness of plan. Led by Planning Inspector who will make report 
that the Council will have to accept). 

 
RSS - Regional Spatial Strategy (sets out the region’s policies in relation to the development 
and use of land. Makes up part of the development plan). 

 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 39



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 23 

SA – Sustainability Appraisal (required for all local development documents to ensure that their 
social, economic and environmental impacts are tested). 

 
SCI – Statement of Community Involvement (sets out the standards which authorities will 
achieve when including communities in the preparation of local development documents and 
development control decisions). 

 
SEA – Strategic Environmental Assessment (environmental assessment of plans, policies and 
programmes). 

 
Soundness - (nine tests that a plan should satisfy – it includes the following categories, 
“procedural” “conformity”, “coherence, consistency and effectiveness”). 

 
Submission Stage - (Local Development Plan document which is submitted to the Secretary 
of state prior to the Examination, at the same time there will be public consultation for six 
weeks). 

 
SPD – Supplementary Planning Document (Provides supplementary information in respect of 
policies in Development Plan Documents). 

 
SUDS - Sustainable Urban Drainage System. 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 40



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 24 

APPENDIX 2: FURTHER INFORMATION  
 

Section 4A – Energy Use 
 
- The Code for Sustainable Homes is an independent assessment and rating system for the design 

and construction of new homes. It rates buildings on a 6 level rating scale. The Building Research 
Establishment’s Environmental Assessment Method sets out minimum energy efficiency standards 
for all other new buildings. More information is available at: www.breeam.org/  

 
- Building for Life is the national standard for well-designed homes and neighbourhoods. It is led by 

the Commission for Architecture and the Built Environment (CABE) and the Home Builders 
Federation and backed by the Housing Corporation, English Partnerships and Design for Homes. 
The Building for Life standard is made up of 20 criteria that embody the government’s vision of 
what housing developments should be. More information is available at www.buildingforlife.org/  

 
- Lifetime Homes is a national standard, which sets out criteria relating to interior and exterior 

features of the home. Lifetime Homes provide accessible adaptable accommodation for everyone, 
from young families to older people and individuals with a temporary or permanent physical 
impairment. What makes a Lifetime Home is the incorporation of 16 design features that together 
create a flexible blueprint for accessible and adaptable housing in any setting. The Lifetime Homes 
concept increases choice, independence and longevity of tenure, vital to individual and community 
well being. More information is available at www.lifetimehomes.org.uk/  

 
- The Energy Saving Trust seeks to achieve the sustainable use of energy and cut carbon dioxide 

levels through its work with households, business and the public sector.  Homeowners can find out 
more information, including details of available grants, on the Energy Saving Trust’s website: 
www.energysavingtrust.org.uk or their Helpline on 0800 512 012. 

 
- Local advice is available from the Lancashire Energy Efficiency Advice Centre (LEEAC), which 

provides impartial advice on simple, practical steps householders can take to improve the energy 
efficiency of their homes: Telephone 0800 512 012, e-mail info@leeac.org.uk or visit 
www.leeac.org.uk  

 
- Businesses in the Borough can contact the Carbon Trust for advice on how to reduce energy use, 

saving money and helping combat climate change by cutting carbon emissions. To find out about 
the range of services offered by the Carbon Trust contact 0800 085 2005 or visit 
www.carbontrust.co.uk 

 
Section 4B – Low Carbon Energy 
 
- Chorley Councils website provides information on climate change and grants that are available for 

low carbon energy technologies. More information is available at 
www.chorley.gov.uk/climatechange 

 
- Not-for-profit community organisations can receive up to £50,000 for a range of renewable energy 

installations. More information can be found at www.communitysustainable.org.uk or by calling 
0845 3 671 671.  

 
- In addition to energy conservation, the Energy Saving Trust also promotes the use of small-scale 

renewable energy sources, such as solar and wind. See www.energysavingtrust.org.uk or call 0800 
512 012. 
 

- The English Heritage Historic Environment Local Management (HELM) website www.helm.org.uk 
sets out all English Heritage policy position statements, guidance and examples of good practice 
for microgeneration installation. 

 
- English Heritage provides advice on microgeneration in the Historic Environment. More information 

is available at www.english-heritage.org.uk/climatechange 
 
- www.climatechangeandyourhome.org.uk is an interactive web portal designed to help those who 

own or manage houses built of traditional construction understand more about the potential 
impacts of climate change and ways to save energy. 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 41



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 25 

 
- There are also a number of trade organisations representing the various renewable energy 

technologies that can provide further information about technologies and suppliers: 
 

� British Wind Energy Association – www.bwea.com 
� British Hydrogen Association – http://www.british-hydro.org 
� Heat Pump Association - http://www.heatpumps.org.uk  
� UK Heat Pump Network - http://www.heatpumpnet.org.uk/  
� Renewable Energy Association – www.r-e-a.net  
� National Energy Foundation – www.nef.org.uk/actonCO2/renewableenergy.htm  

 

Section 4C – Water 
 

- For tips on how you can save water in the home there is an online interactive game at 
http://www.thewaterfamily.co.uk. Envirowise (see above) can help businesses to identify ways to 
minimise water use. 

 
- An introduction to rainwater harvesting is available from the UK Rainwater Harvesting Association: 

www.ukrha.org. Details of suppliers of rainwater harvesting systems are also available, many of 
which also specialise in greywater recycling. 

 
- The Construction Industry Research and Information Association (CIRIA) run an initiative to 

disseminate and promote good practice in the implementation of sustainable drainage in the built 
environment.  More information about Sustainable Drainage Systems can be found upon their 
website: www.ciria.org.uk/suds. The Environment Agency has produced a guide for developers on 
Sustainable Drainage Systems, available at: http://publications.environment-
agency.gov.uk/pdf/GEHO0308BNST-e-e.pdf 

 
Section 4D – Waste Recycling 
 
- More details about household waste collection and recycling in Chorley can be found by 

telephoning the Recycling helpline on 01257 515355 or e-mailing contact@chorley.gov.uk 
 

- Free home composters (limited number available) can be ordered by telephoning 0845 077 0757 or 
visiting www.recyclenow.com There is also a home composting advice line:  0845 0500110. 
 

- A real nappy laundry service operates in the Chorley area, phone 01257 515355 for details.  
 
- Businesses in the Borough can contact Envirowise, which delivers a government-funded 

programme of independent, practical and confidential advice to any UK business, free of charge. 
Guidance aimed at reducing environmental impact, including waste management and minimisation, 
is available through a free helpline: 0800 585794. A wide range of information, case studies and 
best practice guides can also be found on their website: www.envirowise.gov.uk.   

 
Section 5 – Other Useful Information 

 
- Find out more about the current issues and key background information on achieving more 

sustainable construction at the Department for Business, Enterprise & Regulatory Reform’s 
sustainable construction pages: 
www.berr.gov.uk/sectors/construction/sustainability/page13691.html  

 
- The Recycled Materials for Construction website (www.ecoconstruction.org) contains guidance on 

issues ranging from planning, choosing and specifying materials, to case studies of recycled & 
reclaimed material use. There is also a searchable database of available products with details of 
manufacturing processes of products, their composition, suppliers, etc. 

 

- The Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) is an international, non-government organisation dedicated 
to promoting responsible management of the world’s forests. It operates a system of forest 
certification and product labelling that allows consumers to identify wood and wood-based 
construction materials from sustainable sources. For more details of the system and to find certified 
products and suppliers see www.fsc.org. 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 42



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 26 

APPENDIX 3: BENCHMARKS FOR CALCULATING CARBON EMISSIONS 
 
Housing Development 
 

Dwelling Type 
Top floor 

flat 
Mid-

terraced 
End-

terraced 
Semi-

detached 
Detached 

Total floor area (m2) 60.9 78.8 78.8 88.8 104.0 

Space  2,270 2,232 2,893 3,423 4,451 
Water 2,813 3,228 3,228 3,412 3,762 
L&A 2,201 2,719 2,719 3,057 3,635 
Cooking  1,173 1,264 1,264 1,314 1,386 

Energy 
Requirements 
(kWh/yr) 

Total 8,456 9,443 10,103 11,205 13,233 

Space  120 118 118 181 235 
Water 149 171 171 181 199 
L&A 249 307 307 345 411 
Cooking  62 67 67 70 73 

Carbon 
Emissions 
(kgC/yr) 

Total 580 663 663 777 918 

Total kgC/yr per m2 9.52 8.41 8.41 8.75 8.83 

Notes: 
� Standard total floor areas (TFA) have been assumed per dwelling type. 
� The figures provided are calculated for dwellings build to the Approved Document L1A 

2006 regulatory standards. 
� The carbon emissions assume that the heating, hot water and cooking fuel is mains gas 

for all dwelling types. 
� It is assumed that no secondary heating is provided and that the entire space heating and 

hot water requirement is met by the main heating system (86 per cent efficient). 
� The carbon emissions incorporate production, delivery and appliance conversion losses. 

 
Source: Based on ‘Meeting the 10 per cent target for renewable energy in housing – a guide for 
developers and planners’ (Energy Saving Trust 2006) 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 43



 C
h
o
rl
e
y
 i
n
to

 2
0
1
6
: 

D
ra

ft
 S

u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 S

u
p
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ry
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 D

o
c
u
m

e
n
t 
  

  
  
  
  
C

h
o
rl
e
y
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 L

o
c
a
l 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 
D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
8

 

 
2

7
 

N
o
n
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

 B
u

il
d

in
g

 T
y
p

e
s

 (
c

o
rr

e
s

p
o

n
d

in
g

 t
o

 p
la

n
n

in
g

 u
s

e
 

c
la

s
s
e

s
) 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 s
u

b
-t

y
p

e
s

/E
x

a
m

p
le

s
 

G
a

s
  

G
o

o
d

 
b

e
n

c
h

m
a

rk
  

k
W

h
/m

2
/y

e
a

r 

E
le

c
tr

ic
it

y
 

G
o

o
d

 
b

e
n

c
h

m
a

rk
  

k
W

h
/m

2
/y

e
a

r 

G
a

s
 k

g
C

/y
r 

p
e

r 
m

2
 

E
le

c
tr

ic
it

y
 

k
g

C
/y

r 
p

e
r 

m
2
 

T
o

ta
l 

k
g

C
/y

r 
p

e
r 

m
2
  

C
a
re

 h
o
m

e
s
, 
s
h
e
lt
e
re

d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
  

 
 

N
u
rs

in
g
/r

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
c
a
re

 h
o
m

e
  

 
3
7
5
  

 
4
2
  

 
1
9
.4

3
 

 
4
.7

5
 

 
2
4
.1

8
 

C
in

e
m

a
s
, 
th

e
a
tr

e
s
, 
b
in

g
o
, 
p
o
o
l 
&

 b
o
w

lin
g
 h

a
lls

, 
e
tc

. 
 

T
h
e
a
tr

e
s
  
 

 
 

 
4
2
0
  

 
1
8
0
  

 
2
1
.7

6
 

 
2
0
.3

4
 

 
4
2
.1

 
C

in
e
m

a
s
, 
th

e
a
tr

e
s
, 
b
in

g
o
, 
p
o
o
l 
&

 b
o
w

lin
g
 h

a
lls

, 
e
tc

. 
 

C
in

e
m

a
s
  
 

 
 

 
5
1
5
  

 
1
3
5
  

 
2
6
.6

8
 

 
1
5
.2

6
 

 
4
1
.9

4
 

C
in

e
m

a
s
, 
th

e
a
tr

e
s
, 
b
in

g
o
, 
p
o
o
l 
&

 b
o
w

lin
g
 h

a
lls

, 
e
tc

. 
 

S
o
c
ia

l c
lu

b
s
  

 
 

 
1
4
0
  

 
6
0
  

 
7
.2

5
 

 
6
.7

8
 

 
1
4
.0

3
 

C
in

e
m

a
s
, 
th

e
a
tr

e
s
, 
b
in

g
o
, 
p
o
o
l 
&

 b
o
w

lin
g
 h

a
lls

, 
e
tc

. 
 

B
in

g
o
 c

lu
b
s
  

 
 

 
4
4
0
  

 
1
9
0
  

 
2
2
.7

9
 

 
2
1
.4

7
 

 
4
4
.2

6
 

F
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
&

 p
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 b

u
ild

in
g
s
  

 
P

o
s
t 

o
ff
ic

e
s
  

 
 

 
1
4
0
  

 
4
5
  

 
7
.2

5
 

 
5
.0

9
 

 
1
2
.3

4
 

F
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
&

 p
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 b

u
ild

in
g
s
  

 
A

g
e
n
c
ie

s
   

 
 

 
1
5
0
  

 
5
5
  

 
7
.7

7
 

 
6
.2

2
 

 
1
3
.9

9
 

F
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
&

 p
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 b

u
ild

in
g
s
  

 
P

o
s
t 

o
ff
ic

e
s
 (

a
ll-

e
le

c
tr

ic
) 

 
 

 
0
  

 
8
0
  

 
0
.0

0
 

 
9
.0

4
 

 
9
.0

4
 

F
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
&

 p
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 b

u
ild

in
g
s
  

 
A

g
e
n
c
ie

s
 (

a
ll-

e
le

c
tr

ic
) 

 
 

 
0
  

 
9
0
  

 
0
.0

0
 

 
1
0
.1

7
 

 
1
0
.1

7
 

F
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
&

 p
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 b

u
ild

in
g
s
  

 
B

a
n
k
s
 &

 b
u
ild

in
g
 s

o
c
ie

ti
e
s
  

 
 

6
3
  

 
7
1
  

 
3
.2

6
 

 
8
.0

2
 

 
1
1
.2

8
 

F
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
&

 p
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 b

u
ild

in
g
s
  

 
B

a
n
k
s
 &

 b
u
ild

in
g
 s

o
c
ie

ti
e
s
 (

a
ll-

e
le

c
tr

ic
) 

 
 

0
  

 
1
2
2
  

 
0
.0

0
 

 
1
3
.7

9
 

 
1
3
.7

9
 

H
o
s
p
it
a
ls

   
 

 
 

 
S

m
a
ll 

a
c
u
te

 h
o
s
p
it
a
l 
(<

2
5
,0

0
0
m

3
) 

 
 

4
0
6
  

 
4
5
  

 
2
1
.0

3
 

 
5
.0

9
 

 
2
6
.1

2
 

H
o
s
p
it
a
ls

   
 

 
 

 
S

m
a
ll 

a
c
u
te

 h
o
s
p
it
a
l 
(>

2
5
,0

0
0
m

3
) 

 
 

4
6
6
  

 
6
0
  

 
2
4
.1

4
 

 
6
.7

8
 

 
3
0
.9

2
 

H
o
s
p
it
a
ls

   
 

 
 

 
L
o
n
g
 s

ta
y
 h

o
s
p
it
a
l 
 

 
 

 
4
1
4
  

 
4
1
  

 
2
1
.4

5
 

 
4
.6

3
 

 
2
6
.0

8
 

H
o
te

ls
 &

 h
o
s
te

ls
  

 
 

 
 

S
m

a
lle

r 
h
o
te

l 
 

 
 

 
2
4
0
  

 
8
0
  

 
1
2
.4

3
 

 
9
.0

4
 

 
2
1
.4

7
 

H
o
te

ls
 &

 h
o
s
te

ls
  

 
 

 
 

B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 o

r 
h
o
lid

a
y
 h

o
te

l 
 

 
 

2
6
0
  

 
8
0
  

 
1
3
.4

7
 

 
9
.0

4
 

 
2
2
.5

1
 

H
o
te

ls
 &

 h
o
s
te

ls
  

 
 

 
 

L
u
x
u
ry

 h
o
te

l 
 

 
 

 
3
0
0
  

 
9
0
  

 
1
5
.5

4
 

 
1
0
.1

7
 

 
2
5
.7

1
 

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
b
u
ild

in
g
s
  

 
 

 
 

G
e
n
e
ra

l 
m

a
n
u
fa

c
tu

ri
n
g
  

 
 

2
2
5
  

 
6
5
  

 
1
1
.6

6
 

 
7
.3

5
 

 
1
9
.0

1
 

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
b
u
ild

in
g
s
  

 
 

 
 

F
a
c
to

ry
 –

 o
ff
ic

e
 

 
 

 
1
5
0
  

 
7
2
  

 
7
.7

7
 

 
8
.1

4
 

 
1
5
.9

1
 

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
b
u
ild

in
g
s
 

 
 

 
 

L
ig

h
t 
m

a
n
u
fa

c
tu

ri
n
g
  

 
 

1
7
5
  

 
4
3
  

 
9
.0

7
 

 
4
.8

6
 

 
1
3
.9

3
 

P
re

s
ti
g
e
 o

ff
ic

e
s
  

 
 

 
 

T
y
p
e
 4

  
 

 
 

 
1
1
4
  

 
2
3
4
 

 
5
.9

1
 

 
2
6
.4

4
 

 
3
2
.3

5
 

P
ri
m

a
ry

 &
 s

e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

  
 

 
 

P
ri
m

a
ry

 o
r 

m
id

d
le

 s
c
h
o
o
l  

 
 

1
3
7
  

 
2
0
  

 
7
.1

0
 

 
2
.2

6
 

 
9
.3

6
 

P
ri
m

a
ry

 &
 s

e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

  
 

 
 

S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 
w

it
h
o
u
t 
s
w

im
m

in
g
 p

o
o
l 
 

1
5
1
  

 
2
2
  

 
7
.8

2
 

 
2
.4

9
 

 
1
0
.3

1
 

P
ri
m

a
ry

 &
 s

e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

  
 

 
 

S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
l 
w

it
h
 s

w
im

m
in

g
 p

o
o
l 
 

 
1
7
2
  

 
2
6
  

 
8
.9

1
 

 
2
.9

4
 

 
1
1
.8

5
 

P
ri
m

a
ry

 &
 s

e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

  
 

 
 

P
ri
m

a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

  
 

 
 

1
2
6
  

 
2
0
  

 
6
.5

3
 

 
2
.2

6
 

 
8
.7

9
 

P
ri
m

a
ry

 &
 s

e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

  
 

 
 

S
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

  
 

 
 

1
3
6
  

 
2
4
  

 
7
.0

4
 

 
2
.7

1
 

 
9
.7

5
 

R
e
s
ta

u
ra

n
ts

, 
p
u
b
s
, 
b
a
rs

, 
e
tc

. 
  

 
 

R
e
s
ta

u
ra

n
t 

w
it
h
 b

a
r 

  
 

 
1
,1

0
0
  

 
6
5
0
  

 
5
6
.9

8
 

 
7
3
.4

5
 

 
1
3
0
.4

3
 

R
e
s
ta

u
ra

n
ts

, 
p
u
b
s
, 
b
a
rs

, 
e
tc

. 
  

 
 

F
a
s
t-

fo
o
d
 r

e
s
ta

u
ra

n
t 
 

 
 

4
8
0
  

 
8
2
0
  

 
2
4
.8

6
 

 
9
2
.6

6
 

 
1
1
7
.5

2
 

R
e
ta

il 
b
u
ild

in
g
s
  

 
 

 
 

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t 
s
to

re
s
  

 
 

 
1
9
4
  

 
2
3
7
  

 
1
0
.0

5
 

 
2
6
.7

8
 

 
3
6
.8

3
 

R
e
ta

il 
b
u
ild

in
g
s
  

 
 

 
 

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t 
s
to

re
s
 (

a
ll-

e
le

c
tr

ic
) 

 
 

0
  

 
2
0
9
  

 
0
.0

0
 

 
2
3
.6

2
 

 
2
3
.6

2
 

R
e
ta

il 
b
u
ild

in
g
s
  

 
 

 
 

D
IY

 s
to

re
s
  

 
 

 
1
4
9
  

 
1
2
7
  

 
7
.7

2
 

 
1
4
.3

5
 

 
2
2
.0

7
 

R
e
ta

il 
u
n
it
s
  

 
 

 
 

B
o
o
k
 s

to
re

s
 (

a
ll-

e
le

c
tr

ic
) 

 
 

 
0
  

 
2
1
0
  

 
0
.0

0
 

 
2
3
.7

3
 

 
2
3
.7

3
 

R
e
ta

il 
u
n
it
s
  

 
 

 
 

C
a
ta

lo
g
u
e
 s

to
re

s
  

 
 

 
3
7
  

 
8
3
  

 
1
.9

2
 

 
9
.3

8
 

 
1
1
.3

0
 

R
e
ta

il 
u
n
it
s
  

 
 

 
 

C
a
ta

lo
g
u
e
 s

to
re

s
 (

a
ll-

e
le

c
tr

ic
) 

  
 

0
  

 
1
0
0
  

 
0
.0

0
 

 
1
1
.3

0
 

 
1
1
.3

0
 

R
e
ta

il 
u
n
it
s
  

 
 

 
 

B
u
tc

h
e
rs

 (
a
ll-

e
le

c
tr

ic
) 

 
 

 
0
  

 
4
7
5
  

 
0
.0

0
 

 
5
3
.6

8
 

 
5
3
.6

8
 

R
e
ta

il 
u
n
it
s
  

 
 

 
 

C
lo

th
e
s
 s

h
o
p
s
  

 
 

 
6
5
  

 
2
3
4
  

 
3
.3

7
 

 
2
6
.4

4
 

 
2
9
.8

1
 

R
e
ta

il 
u
n
it
s
  

 
 

 
 

C
lo

th
e
s
 s

h
o
p
s
 (

a
ll-

e
le

c
tr

ic
) 

 
 

 
0
  

 
2
7
0
  

 
0
.0

0
 

 
3
0
.5

1
 

 
3
0
.5

1
 

R
e
ta

il 
u
n
it
s
  

 
 

 
 

E
le

c
tr

ic
a
l 
g
o
o
d
s
 r

e
n
ta

l 
(a

ll-
e
le

c
tr

ic
) 

 
 

0
  

 
2
8
1
  

 
0
.0

0
 

 
3
1
.7

5
 

 
3
1
.7

5
 

R
e
ta

il 
u
n
it
s
  

 
 

 
 

E
le

c
tr

ic
a
l 
g
o
o
d
s
 r

e
ta

il 
(a

ll-
e
le

c
tr

ic
) 

 
 

0
  

 
1
7
2
  

 
0
.0

0
 

 
1
9
.4

4
 

 
1
9
.4

4
 

R
e
ta

il 
u
n
it
s
  

 
 

 
 

F
ro

z
e
n
 f

o
o
d
 c

e
n
tr

e
s
 (

a
ll-

e
le

c
tr

ic
) 

 
 

0
  

 
8
5
8
  

 
0
.0

0
 

 
9
6
.9

5
 

 
9
6
.9

5
 

R
e
ta

il 
u
n
it
s
  

 
 

 
 

O
ff

-l
ic

e
n
c
e
s
 (

a
ll-

e
le

c
tr

ic
) 

 
 

 
0
  

 
4
7
5
  

 
0
.0

0
 

 
5
3
.6

8
 

 
5
3
.6

8
 

R
e
ta

il 
u
n
it
s
  

 
 

 
 

S
h
o
e
 s

h
o
p
s
 (

a
ll-

e
le

c
tr

ic
) 

 
 

 
0
  

 
1
9
7
  

 
0
.0

0
 

 
2
2
.2

6
 

 
2
2
.2

6
 

S
p
o
rt

s
 c

e
n
tr

e
s
 &

 h
e
a
lt
h
 c

lu
b
s
   

 
 

S
p
o
rt

s
 f

a
c
ili

ty
 w

it
h
o
u
t 

a
 p

o
o
l 
 

 
 

2
1
5
  

 
7
5
  

 
1
1
.1

4
 

 
8
.4

8
 

 
1
9
.6

2
 

S
p
o
rt

s
 c

e
n
tr

e
s
 &

 h
e
a
lt
h
 c

lu
b
s
   

 
 

S
p
o
rt

s
 f

a
c
ili

ty
 w

it
h
 a

 p
o
o
l  

 
 

3
6
0
  

 
1
5
0
  

 
1
8
.6

5
 

 
1
6
.9

5
 

 
3
5
.6

0
 

 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 44



 C
h
o
rl
e
y
 i
n
to

 2
0
1
6
: 

D
ra

ft
 S

u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 S

u
p
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ry
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 D

o
c
u
m

e
n
t 
  

  
  
  
  
C

h
o
rl
e
y
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 L

o
c
a
l 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 
D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
8

 

 
2

8
 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 T
y
p

e
s

 (
c

o
rr

e
s

p
o

n
d

in
g

 t
o

 p
la

n
n

in
g

 u
s

e
 

c
la

s
s
e

s
) 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 s
u

b
-t

y
p

e
s

/E
x

a
m

p
le

s
 

G
a

s
  

G
o

o
d

 
b

e
n

c
h

m
a

rk
  

k
W

h
/m

2
/y

e
a

r 

E
le

c
tr

ic
it

y
 

G
o

o
d

 
b

e
n

c
h

m
a

rk
  

k
W

h
/m

2
/y

e
a

r 

G
a

s
 k

g
C

/y
r 

p
e

r 
m

2
 

E
le

c
tr

ic
it

y
 

k
g

C
/y

r 
p

e
r 

m
2
 

T
o

ta
l 

k
g

C
/y

r 
p

e
r 

m
2
  

S
p
o
rt

s
 c

e
n
tr

e
s
 &

 h
e
a
lt
h
 c

lu
b
s
   

 
 

S
w

im
m

in
g
 p

o
o
ls

 o
n
ly

  
 

 
7
7
5
  

 
1
6
5
  

 
4
0
.1

5
 

 
1
8
.6

5
 

 
5
8
.8

0
 

S
ta

n
d
a
rd

 o
ff
ic

e
s
  

 
 

 
 

T
y
p
e
 3

  
 

 
 

 
9
7
  

 
1
2
8
  

 
5
.0

2
 

 
1
4
.4

6
 

 
1
9
.4

8
 

S
ta

n
d
a
rd

 o
ff
ic

e
s
  

 
 

 
 

T
y
p
e
 2

  
 

 
 

 
7
9
  

 
5
4
  

 
4
.0

9
 

 
6
.1

0
 

 
1
0
.1

9
 

S
ta

n
d
a
rd

 o
ff
ic

e
s
  

 
 

 
 

T
y
p
e
 1

  
 

 
 

 
7
9
  

 
3
3
  

 
4
.0

9
 

 
3
.7

3
 

 
7
.8

2
 

S
to

ra
g
e
 &

 d
is

tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 w

a
re

h
o
u
s
e
s
  

 
 

S
to

ra
g
e
 &

 d
is

tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 w

a
re

h
o
u
s
e
s
  

 
1
3
5
  

 
2
9
  

 
6
.9

9
 

 
3
.2

8
 

 
1
0
.2

7
 

S
to

ra
g
e
 &

 d
is

tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 w

a
re

h
o
u
s
e
s
  

 
 

D
is

tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 w

a
re

h
o
u
s
e
s
  

 
 

1
0
3
  

 
5
3
  

 
5
.3

4
 

 
5
.9

9
 

 
1
1
.3

3
 

S
to

ra
g
e
 &

 d
is

tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 w

a
re

h
o
u
s
e
s
  

 
 

D
is

tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 w

a
re

h
o
u
s
e
s
 (

a
ll-

e
le

c
tr

ic
) 

 
 

0
  

 
5
5
  

 
0
.0

0
 

 
6
.2

2
 

 
6
.2

2
 

S
u
p
e
rs

to
re

s
  

 
 

 
 

S
u
p
e
rm

a
rk

e
ts

  
 

 
 

2
0
0
  

 
9
1
5
 

 
1
0
.3

6
 

 
1
0
3
.4

0
 

 
1
1
3
.7

6
 

S
u
p
e
rs

to
re

s
  

 
 

 
 

S
u
p
e
rm

a
rk

e
ts

 (
a
ll-

e
le

c
tr

ic
) 

 
 

 
0
  

 
1
,0

3
4
  

 
0
.0

0
 

 
1
1
6
.8

4
 

 
1
1
6
.8

4
 

  S
o

u
rc

e
: 

B
a
s

e
d

 o
n

 ‘
In

te
g

ra
ti

n
g

 r
e
n

e
w

a
b

le
 e

n
e
rg

y
 i

n
to

 n
e
w

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

ts
: 

T
o

o
lk

it
 f

o
r 

p
la

n
n

e
rs

, 
d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
rs

 a
n

d
 c

o
n

s
u

lt
a
n

t’
 (

L
o

n
d

o
n

 R
e
n

e
w

a
b

le
s
 2

0
0
4

) 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 45



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 29

APPENDIX 4: TEMPLATE FOR DEMONSTRATING REDUCTION IN CARBON EMISSIONS 

 
  

BASELINE CARBON EMISSIONS 
Gas Electricity 

Units 
Predicted 

energy 
consumption 

(kWh/yr) 

Carbon 
emissions 
(kgC/yr)

2
 

Predicted energy 
consumption 

(kWh/yr) 

Carbon 
emissions 
(kgC/yr)

3
 

TOTAL 
CARBON 

EMISSIONS 
(kgC/yr) 

Building type 1      

Building type 2      

Building type 3      

Building type 4      

Building type 5      

…add more as 
needed 

    
 

Infrastructure e.g. 
street lighting 

    
 

…add more as 
needed 

    
 

DEVELOPMENT 
TOTAL 

    
 

MINIMUM REDUCTION OF CARBON EMISSIONS REQUIRED
4
  

 

REDUCTION IN CARBON EMISSIONS 

Low carbon energy 
technologies to be 
installed 

System 
size 

Predicted energy 
consumption met by 

low carbon 
technology (kWh/yr) 

Carbon emissions 
from equivalent 

kWh/yr of 
gas/electricity 

(kgC/yr) 

Carbon emissions 
from low carbon 

energy 
contribution 

(kgC/yr) 

Carbon 
saving 

(kgC/yr) 

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

TOTAL CARBON SAVINGS  

% CARBON SAVING  

 

 

                                                           
2
 1 kWh of gas = 0.053 kg of Carbon 

3
 1 kWh of electricity = 0.113 kg of Carbon 

4
 10% of total carbon emissions of development, 15% from 2010 and 20% from 2015 onwards. 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 46



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 30 

APPENDIX 5: EXAMPLES OF CARBON SAVINGS 
 

The following are examples of carbon savings from a range of low carbon technologies. 
Different types of the technologies are available with varying costs and performance 
characteristics. Site-specific costs will depend on system selection. 

 

Low carbon energy 
technology 

System size (kW/m
2
) 

Annual carbon 
savings (kgC/m

2
) 

Cost (£/m
2
) 

Wind turbine (roof mounted) 0.0031 0.90 £6.24 

Biomass heating 0.145 4.49 £28.95 

Solar water heating 0.035 (m
2
/m

2 
GIFA) 1.08 £14.02 

Photovoltaics (rooftop) 0.080 (m
2
/m

2 
GIFA) 0.90 £67.96 

Ground source heat pump 0.033 1.32 £32.81 

 
Notes: 
 
1. Data based on a medium density suburban housing development with a mix of individual houses; 

low rise multi residential housing and terraced/row housing. 
2. Both low carbon energy system data and development costs are based on gross internal floor 

area (GIFA). 
3. Biomass heating: cost of district heating network not included. 

 
 

Source: Based on ‘Integrating renewable energy into new developments: Toolkit for planners, 
developers and consultant’ (London Renewables 2004) 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 47



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development 
Framework 
December 2008 

 
31 

APPENDIX 6: EXAMPLES OF SUITABLE LOW CARBON TECHNOLOGIES FOR DIFFERENT 
BUILDING TYPES 
 
The following information identifies examples of what low carbon technologies could be suitable 
for a number of different building types. It is taken from ‘Integrating energy into new 
developments; Toolkit for planners, developers and consultants’ published by London 
Renewables. The information should only be used as an illustrative guide. More detailed 
investigations will be needed to deicide which low carbon energy technologies are best for a 
particular development. 
 
Central retail block 
Ground sourced heating is likely to be able to provide the highest low carbon contribution at least 
cost, with ground cooling also possible. 
 
Small retail unit 
Due to location issues, ground sourced heating may be the only possibility. 
 
Prestige office 
Ground sourced heating and cooling, possibly in combination, are likely to provide the least cost 
low carbon contribution, unless PV cladding could be used to replace an expensive facade. 
 
Standard office 
Biomass heating, if a suitable fuel supply and storage area is available, could be the cheapest 
option, with ground sourced heating also low cost. A wind turbine could provide a low cost low 
carbon source, if there is space and an adequate wind regime available. 
 
Standard infill naturally ventilated office 
Biomass heating, if a suitable fuel supply and storage area are available, or ground sourced 
heating are the cheapest options. 
 
Industry 
A wind turbine, if there is space and an adequate wind regime available, can be the cheapest 
option, alternatively biomass heating, if a suitable fuel supply and storage area are available, and 
ground sourced heating can be low cost. Solar water heating could be viable if the particular 
building use has high hot water demand e.g. for washing. 
 
Warehouse and distribution 
A wind turbine, if there is space and an adequate wind regime available, can be the cheapest 
option; alternatively ground sourced heating could be used at reasonable cost. 
 
Hotel 
Ground sourced heating is likely to be the cheapest low carbon energy source, with a 
combination of solar hot water and ground cooling also reasonable. PV cladding, if used to 
replace an expensive facade, could also provide a contribution. 
 
Care homes and sheltered housing 
Biomass heating, if a suitable fuel supply and storage area is available, could be the cheapest 
option, with ground sourced heating also low cost. 
 
Medium density housing, suburbs 
Solar hot water systems on individual houses are likely to be the easiest. However, a stand-alone 
wind turbine could provide the lowest overall cost low carbon source, if there is space away from 
the houses and an adequate wind regime available. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 48



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development 
Framework 
December 2008 

 
32 

Medium density housing, infill 
Solar hot water systems are likely to be the cheapest option, as long as adequate roof space is 
available. Individual ground sourced heating systems are also a reasonable option. If communal 
heating is to be installed, biomass heating becomes viable, as long as a suitable fuel supply and 
storage area are available. 
 
Block of flats 
If communal heating is to be installed, biomass heating is cheapest, as long as a suitable fuel 
supply and storage area are available. Communal solar hot water is a further reasonable cost 
option. 
 
Primary or secondary school 
A stand-alone wind turbine could provide the lowest overall cost low carbon source, if there is 
space and an adequate wind regime available. Biomass heating is also a viable option if there is 
a suitable fuel supply and storage area available, as is ground sourced heating. 
 
Sports centre/ health club with pool 
A stand-alone wind turbine could provide the lowest overall cost low carbon source, if there is 
space and an adequate wind regime available. A solar hot water system can also provide the 
necessary contribution at low cost. Biomass heating is a viable option if there is a suitable fuel 
supply and storage area available. 
  

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 49



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 33 

APPENDIX 7: MAPS 
 

 Chorley Low Carbon Energy Maps 
 

The following maps were developed during the Renewable Energy Study at the beginning of 
2005. For the various low carbon energy technologies covered, each map shows applicable 
physical characteristics that would influence location within Chorley Borough. While they 
provide a useful indication of where low carbon energy schemes could be located in the 
Borough, any forthcoming schemes would be assessed on a site-specific basis using the 
criteria set out in the Development Plan Document and this Supplementary Planning 
Document. 

 
Map 1 – Wind: micro/building mounted turbines 
Map 2 – Single turbines and clusters (under 50 MW) 
Map 3 – Clusters of large turbines (over 50 MW) 
Map 4 – Small-scale hydro 
Map 5 – Landfill 
Map 6 – Woody biomass 
Map 7 – Solar Water Heating & PV 
Map 8 – Anaerobic digestion 
 
Landscape Sensitivity to Wind Energy Development in Lancashire Map 
 
This map is taken from a study undertaken by Lovejoy consultancy. It identifies different 
landscapes in the Borough and their sensitivity to wind development. 
 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 50



 

Chorley into 2016: Draft Sustainable Resources Supplementary Planning Document           Chorley Borough Local Development Framework 
December 2008 

 34 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 51



 C
h
o
rl
e
y
 i
n
to

 2
0
1
6
: 

D
ra

ft
 S

u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 S

u
p
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ry
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 D

o
c
u
m

e
n
t 
  

  
  
  
  
C

h
o
rl
e
y
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 L

o
c
a
l 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 
D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
8

 

 
3

5
 

 Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 52



 C
h
o
rl
e
y
 i
n
to

 2
0
1
6
: 

D
ra

ft
 S

u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 S

u
p
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ry
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 D

o
c
u
m

e
n
t 
  

  
  
  
  
C

h
o
rl
e
y
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 L

o
c
a
l 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 
D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
8

 

 
3

6
 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 53



 C
h
o
rl
e
y
 i
n
to

 2
0
1
6
: 

D
ra

ft
 S

u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 S

u
p
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ry
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 D

o
c
u
m

e
n
t 
  

  
  
  
  
C

h
o
rl
e
y
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 L

o
c
a
l 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 
D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
8

 

 
3

7
 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 54



 C
h
o
rl
e
y
 i
n
to

 2
0
1
6
: 

D
ra

ft
 S

u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 S

u
p
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ry
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 D

o
c
u
m

e
n
t 
  

  
  
  
  
C

h
o
rl
e
y
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 L

o
c
a
l 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 
D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
8

 

 
3

8
 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 55



 C
h
o
rl
e
y
 i
n
to

 2
0
1
6
: 

D
ra

ft
 S

u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 S

u
p
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ry
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 D

o
c
u
m

e
n
t 
  

  
  
  
  
C

h
o
rl
e
y
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 L

o
c
a
l 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 
D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
8

 

 
3

9
 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 56



 C
h
o
rl
e
y
 i
n
to

 2
0
1
6
: 

D
ra

ft
 S

u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 S

u
p
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ry
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 D

o
c
u
m

e
n
t 
  

  
  
  
  
C

h
o
rl
e
y
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 L

o
c
a
l 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 
D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
8

 

 
4

0
 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 57



 C
h
o
rl
e
y
 i
n
to

 2
0
1
6
: 

D
ra

ft
 S

u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 S

u
p
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ry
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 D

o
c
u
m

e
n
t 
  

  
  
  
  
C

h
o
rl
e
y
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 L

o
c
a
l 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 
D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
8

 

 
4

1
 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 58



 C
h
o
rl
e
y
 i
n
to

 2
0
1
6
: 

D
ra

ft
 S

u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 S

u
p
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ry
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 D

o
c
u
m

e
n
t 
  

  
  
  
  
C

h
o
rl
e
y
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 L

o
c
a
l 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 
D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
8

 

 
4

2
 

 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 59



 C
h
o
rl
e
y
 i
n
to

 2
0
1
6
: 

D
ra

ft
 S

u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 S

u
p
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ry
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 D

o
c
u
m

e
n
t 
  

  
  
  
  
C

h
o
rl
e
y
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 L

o
c
a
l 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 
D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
8

 

 
4

3
 

 
 

Agenda Item 6Agenda Page 60



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
Report of Meeting Date 

 

Corporate Director (People) 
(Introduced by the Executive 

Member for People,  
Councillor John Walker) 

 

Executive Cabinet 04/12/08 

 

ELLERBECK AND DUXBURY COLLIERIES – POTENTIAL 

EXTENSION OF GREEN CORRIDOR 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1. To gain approval for an appraisal and site investigation of Ellerbeck and Duxbury 
Collieries (known as Ellerbeck).  This work will be funded by REMADE and project 
managed by Chorley Council.  

 

RECOMMENDATION(S) 

2. To approve the site appraisal and investigation of Ellerbeck. 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF REPORT 

3. REMADE, which stands for Reclamation and Management of Derelict Land, has funding to 
carry out site surveys, investigations and studies which will inform the subsequent design 
and future of the Ellerbeck site.  The longer term aim is to reclaim Ellerbeck in a similar way 
to Birkacre and Big Wood, bringing it up to standard to be included as part of Yarrow Valley 
Country Park, connected via the existing footpath network. 

 
4. Although Ellerbeck will be identified as part of Yarrow Valley Country Park through the           

design and the concept of conservation, recreation and education, it is proposed to have a           
distinct and separate identity through the end use being tailored to outdoor pursuits and           
ideally, in part, self managing and financing. The initial appraisal, investigations and 
surveys will inform what this end use of the site can be.   

 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

(If the recommendations are accepted) 

5. REMADE are offering to fund the whole of the site appraisal, investigations and survey.  
This can be seen as a cost saving for Chorley Council.  Ellerbeck is owned by Chorley 
Council and as such the Council have the public liability to keep the site safe.  It is in our 
interests to know of any problems on site which could have a detrimental effect on the 
environment or the safety of local residents.  

 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

6. Alternative option would be to not carry out the surveys and not take up the funding.  

 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 7Agenda Page 61



 
 
 
CORPORATE PRIORITIES 
 
7. This report relates to the following Strategic Objectives: 
 

Put Chorley at the heart of regional 
economic development in the 
Central Lancashire sub-region 

 Develop local solutions to climate 
change.  

 

Improving equality of opportunity and 
life chances  

 Develop the Character and feel of 
Chorley as a good place to live  

  

 4 
Involving people in their communities   Ensure Chorley Borough Council is a 

performing organization  
 

 

BACKGROUND 
 

8. The site of Ellerbeck is located to the south of Chorley's urban fringe and to the north west 
of Adlington on land owned by Chorley Council.  The Council bought the land in 
September 1997 from British Coal.  

 
9. This 28.45 ha former colliery exhibits typical coalfield dereliction on a large scale in the 

form of derelict mineshafts and contaminated and unstable ground, though this is now 
hidden within woodland and dense undergrowth.  It is on the register of derelict, 
underused and neglected (DUN) sites in Lancashire.   

 
10. The site is allocated for informal recreational use and nature conservation within the Local 

Plan.  The Council recognise the leisure/nature conservation potential of the site as not 
only benefiting the Borough of Chorley but the region as a whole. 

 
11. Ellerbeck has the scope to provide a valuable recreational, nature conservation and 

educational visitor attraction in the North West.  The Park's particular location also serves 
to enhance other linkages to the rest of Yarrow Valley Country Park and the West 
Pennine Moors.  

 
12. As a first step in realising the reclamation, REMADE is offering to provide funding to carry 

out an initial appraisal of the land. The feasibility works will cost £25,000.  The project  will 
be managed by Chorley Council.  We have received assurances from REMADE that by 
accepting the offer of funding for the feasibility works we are not committing the Council to 
any future works, nor will the funding be clawed back if the Council decides not to 
proceed. 

 
13. The initial appraisal will look at: 
 

• An ecological survey of the site 

• Contaminated land survey and recommendations 

• Investigation into mining activity on site and any remaining structures 

• Topographical survey. 
 
14. Armed with the findings of the survey, the next step for us would be to look at the possible 

recreational uses of the site.  Initial thoughts are that this could include some outdoor 
pursuits/activities that could open up opportunities for alternative management and 
funding arrangements.  

Agenda Item 7Agenda Page 62



 
15. Subject to satisfactory findings, and approval from Members at a future date, funding bids 

could then be put into REMADE and other suitable funding streams along with local 
agencies such as the Environment Agency, Coal Authority and Natural England being 
approached to find finance and support to carry out the remedial work.  This will involve 
decontamination, pollution control, removal of dangerous structures and mineshaft 
capping, followed by reclamation and development works such as woodland 
management, footpath infrastructure, access controls, boundary treatment, car parking, 
drainage, planting, site interpretation and development of recreational activities.  

 

IMPLICATIONS OF REPORT 
 
16. This report has implications in the following areas and the relevant Corporate Directors’ 

comments are included: 
 

Finance 4 Customer Services   

Human Resources  Equality and Diversity  
Legal  No significant implications in this 

area 
 

 
COMMENTS OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
 
17. The proposals in this report are at a very early stage of development and the initial phase 

is not reliant on any financial support from Chorley Council. However, if the project 
progresses and grant approval is forthcoming then it is essential to identify any costs that 
will be required from the Council at the earliest possible stage for consideration in the 
budgetary process. This will be both capital and revenue costs in the form of match 
funding or maintenance costs 

 
 
 
JAMIE CARSON 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PEOPLE) 
 

There are no background papers to this report. 

    

Report Author Ext Date Doc ID 

Lindsey Ralston 5218 Sept 08  

 
 

Agenda Item 7Agenda Page 63



Agenda Page 64

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 10 Agenda Page 65

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 10 Agenda Page 71

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda Item 10Agenda Page 80

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 10 Agenda Page 81

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda Item 10Agenda Page 100

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 11 Agenda Page 101

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda Item 11Agenda Page 108

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 11 Agenda Page 109

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda Page 112

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 11 Agenda Page 113

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda Page 114

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 11 Agenda Page 115

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda Item 11Agenda Page 116

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 December Forward Plan
	6 Sustainable Resources - Approval of Draft Supplementary Planning Document for consultation purposes
	SusResDftSupPlgDocDocument

	7 Ellerbeck and Duxbury Collieries Sites - Potential extension of Green Corridor
	10 Strategic Housing Issues
	HomelesssnessPrevFundDoc
	AllocationsPolicyDoc

	11 Performance of Key Partnerships - 2008/09 Mid-term Progress Report
	PerfofKeyPartnershipsApp1
	PerfofKeyPartnershipsApp2
	PerfofKeyPartnershipsApp3


